

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

Eye Gaze Technology for Nonverbal Students with Cortical Visual Impairment

Hannah Sykes Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Communication Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Hannah Sykes

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Jennifer Courduff, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Asoka Jayasena, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Elsa Gonzalez, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2020

Abstract

Eye Gaze Technology for Nonverbal Students with Cortical Visual Impairment

by

Hannah Sykes

MA, Wilmington University, 2010

BS, Holy Family University, 2006

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy of Education

Walden University

February 2021

Abstract

The problem that this study addressed was the use of eye gaze technology (EGT) for nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment (CVI). There are no studies examining educators' viewpoints on the usefulness of EGT for communication and language development of nonverbal students with CVI. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore what educators think about the usefulness of EGT on communication and language development for nonverbal students with CVI. The conceptual frameworks were Venkatesh unified theory of acceptance and use of technology and Dewey's pragmatism theory. The data were collected from six special education teachers and six speech therapists through semi structured, interviews. Data were hand coded to identify codes, patterns, and themes. The results of this study revealed that the participants had a positive attitude toward the use of EGT for nonverbal students with CVI because it improved the communication and language development, which, in turn, influenced students' motivation, self-efficacy, and academic performance. The participants also noted concerns with technical issues. The results of this study might affect social change for students with CVI as special education teachers and speech therapists could use EGT as an accommodation that allows the students to improve communication and develop language skills. Improved communication and language skills through the use of EGT gives students with CVI the tools that are needed to participate more fully and creates the potential for students to become full members of society.

Eye Gaze Technology for Nonverbal Students with Cortical Visual Impairment

by

Hannah Sykes

MA, Wilmington University, 2010

BS, Holy Family University, 2006

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy of Education

Walden University

February 2021

Dedication

In dedication to Jeffrey Billups who provided coffee, love, and support throughout this entire journey. He stood by me through health issues being supportive and encouraging through the tough times. To my children and their spouses who were always supportive. More importantly, to my grandchildren who are the future and will contribute greatness in their lifetime. Thank God, for guidance and healing so I could follow through and complete this study.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Dr. Jennifer Courduff and Dr. Asoka Jayasena who worked diligently with me every step of the way. Dr. Courduff provided resources for networking and her positivity was contagious. There were many times I wanted to quit but her "Rock on!" comments kept me going. Dr. Jayasena was very critical of my work and I was unhappy about it most of the time before I realized she was building a scholar practitioner. I have grown tremendously throughout this journey and it would not be possible without Dr. Courduff and Dr. Jayasena. Thank you. You Rock!

Abstractii
Eye Gaze Technology for Nonverbal Students with Cortical Visual Impairmentiii
List of Tablesv
List of Figures vi
Chapter 1: Introduction
Background2
Problem Statement
Purpose6
Research Question(s)7
Conceptual Framework7
Nature of the Study
Operational Definitions9
Assumptions11
Delimitations12
Limitations13
Significance14
Summary14
Chapter 2: Literature Review16
Introduction16
Literature Search Strategy16
Conceptual Framework

Table of Contents

Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology	19
Dewey's Pragmatism Theory	
Literature Review and Related Concepts	26
Abilities and Types of Communication	
Nonverbal Nonverbal Communication and ASD	
Assessment of the Nonverbal Communication Profile	
Language Development	30
Principles of Cortical Visual Impairment (CVI)	
CVI and AAC	
Evidence-Based Interventions and Practices	
Augmentative and Alternative Communication	35
Gaps in the Literature	
Summary and Conclusions	40
Chapter 3: Research Method	41
Introduction	41
Research Design and Rationale	42
Role of the Researcher	44
Participation Selection Logic	45
Instrumentation	
Interview Questions	
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	56
Data Analysis Plan	58

Issues of Trustworthiness	61
Ethical Procedures	62
Summary	64
Chapter 4: Results	65
Introduction	65
Demographics	68
Participants' Profile Narratives	69
Data Collection	74
Data Analysis	75
Educators' Opinion on the Use of Eye Gaze Technology	81
Familiarity with all Aspects of Eye Gaze Technology	82
Effectiveness of Eye Gaze Technology for Students with CVI	83
Comparison of other Communication Devices to Eye Gaze Technology	84
Eye Gaze Technology Ease of Use	84
Functional Benefits of Eye Gaze Technology	86
Effective Implementation of Eye Gaze Technology	86
Evidence of Trustworthiness	87
Credibility	87
Transferability	88
Dependability	88
Confirmability	88
Main Research Question	89

The Effectiveness of Eye Gaze Technology	
Ease of Use of Eye Gaze Technology	
Functional Benefits of Eye Gaze Technology	
Summary	100
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	102
Introduction	102
Interpretation of the Findings	103
Interpretation of the Findings in Relation to the Literature	103
Interpretation of the Findings in Relation to the Conceptual Framework	106
Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology	107
Dewey's Pragmatism Theory	111
Limitations of the Study	112
Recommendations	113
Implications	114
Implications for Social Change	115
Conclusion	116
References	119

List of Tables

Table 1. Research and Interview Questions, Data Needs and Sources Alignment	57
Table 2. Demographics	65
Table 3. Initial Code Counts	75
Table 2. Patterns from Initial Code Counts	85

List of Figures

Figure 1. The UTAUT Model	
Figure 2. Data Analysis and Coding Process	

Chapter 1: Introduction

Eye-gaze, used to control a computer to communicate, is a fast-growing field that has promising implications for students with severe disabilities. Sievers, Trembath and Westerveld (2018) addressed the use of devices that assist students with physical or intellectual impairments in adapting to a standard classroom environment. Eye gaze technology is currently used to reduce limitations in education, play, and communication (Hemmingsson, Ahlsten, Wandin, Rytterstrom, & Borgestig, 2018). Researchers examined the effectiveness of eye gaze technology on assistive functions and remediation where the technologies range from simple tasks completion to complex educational software and speech recognition (Hemmingsson et al., 2018).

The problem was that there is a lack of information on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment (CVI). Eye gaze tracking was used to assess how a student's visual behaviors change in response to the complexity of the alternative augmentative communication (AAC) display but there was very little research to support guiding or examining the value of it. More studies were needed to identify challenges and investigate accommodations to improve communication and language development. I addressed a gap in the literature by gaining a deeper understanding of educators' viewpoints on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with CVI.

Sievers et al. (2018) addressed the use of devices that assist students with physical or intellectual impairments in adapting to a standard classroom environment. Researchers examined the effectiveness of eye gaze technology on assistive functions and remediation where the technologies range from simple tasks completion to complex educational software and speech recognition (Hemmingsson et al., 2018). Pua, Ball, Adamson, Bowden, and Seal (2018) discussed the value of how visual processing differences need to be accommodated when students with severe disabilities use eye gaze technology (Townend, Marschik, Smeets, Van de Berg, Van den Berg & Curfs, 2015). Pua et al. (2018) reported that many students with moderate and severe disabilities are at high-risk for CVI and may even experience sensitivity to specific colors, brightness, and contrast. Eye gaze technology has been used to assess how a student's visual behaviors change in response to the complexity of the alternative augmentative communication (AAC) display, but there was very little research to support guiding or examining the value of it. More studies were needed to provide insight into challenges with visual processing differences and accommodations.

Background

What follows contains a brief summary of the use of eye gaze or eye tracking technologies to support and facilitate communicative skills and language development for nonverbal students with CVI. Eye-gaze technology used to control a computer to communicate is a fast-growing field that has promising implications for students with severe disabilities. Alzrayer, Banda, and Koul (2017) tested four nonverbal children in the classroom setting using Proloquo2Go software to determine the effectiveness of systemic instruction when teaching multistep requesting skills. The participants met the requirements of age range (8 to 10 years old), diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder, nonverbal and no prior history of using the iPad with Proloquo2Go. Alzrayer et al. (2017) used a multi-probe design approach that included baseline sessions, intervention, and generalizations. Alzrayer et al. (2017) quantitative study revealed that all participants were successful at varying degrees with combining symbols to request preferred items and navigating across pages. The intervention was effective when using multistep requests with the iPad and the participants demonstrated the newly acquired skill of using icons to communicate. Some of the limitations of the study were that it included participants who were provided with verbal cues and participants who displayed challenging behaviors during the study. This supports my study as it emphasizes the need for improvement on communication skills and language development for nonverbal students with CVI using eye gaze technology.

Biggs, Carter, and Gilson (2018) examined several experimental research studies that involved aided AAC demonstration to endorse expressive communication from children with complex communication needs (CCNs). In their review, they addressed the instructive framework used to describe the main differences in aided AAC modeling and the interventions that had a positive impact on students with CCN. The findings revealed that modeling was a prominent aspect among the packaged interventions and students communicated frequently with increased vocabulary. This review supports the need for improvement in communicative skills for nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment, using eye gaze technology with a focus on linguistic targets.

Dindar, Korkiakangas, Laitila, and Karna (2017) discussed increased use of eye gaze technology to study gaze behaviors in individuals with autism spectrum disorders (ASDs). Dindar et al. focused on the gaze behaviors of three children, ages 11, 8 and 6

years old, diagnosed with ASD, using an educational game. Dindar et al. (2017) hypothesized that combining quantitative eye tracking with a qualitative video-based approach would provide an accurate measure of the usefulness of eye gaze technology in social situations. Data collected measured gaze habits away from the game and toward others in the room. The conversation analysis (CA) approach involved the collection of audio-visual recordings in a normal everyday school setting using the qualitative method. Dindar et al. (2017) confirmed that children with ASD are active social participants instead of passive observers. My research related to this study as it discussed the gaze behaviors of nonverbal children with disabilities as they communicated to play a video game. In my study, I addressed the gap of improving communication partner behaviors of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment using eye gaze technology.

Lund, Quach, Weissling, McKelvey & Dietz, A. (2017) used a qualitative study to explore how speech-language pathologists (SLPs) who are also augmentative and alternative communication (AAC) specialists, assess one student with cerebral palsy and another student with ASD. The goal was to focus on the approach by clinicians when assessing children with developmental delays, and motor and social deficits. Participants of this study included eight English-speaking certified SLPs. The findings provided some similarities and emerging themes from the data within the area of focus, the method of assessment, parent education and evaluative criteria. The results of the study provided a formal assessment procedure for children with CCN.

Robillard, Roy-Charland & Cazabon (2018) studied the role cognition played within the directional progression of speech-generating devices (SGDs) amongst students

4

with ASD. The main goal was to study the role of cognitive factors on 20 students aged 5 to 20 years using the Leiter International Scale (LIS) and Working Memory Assessment (WMA). Students used the iPad 4 to complete navigational tasks, which revealed an important connection between the ability to navigate the SGD and cognitive ability. Robillard et al. (2018) further discovered that cognitive flexibility predicted the navigational skills of students with ASD. This relates to my research by supporting the need for accommodations for nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment who use eye gaze technology.

Rytterstrom, Borgestig & Hemmingsson (2016) studied the use of eye-gaze technology by nonverbal students with severe motor impairment from a teacher and parent perspective. Eleven different schools participated in the study where teachers and assistants were interviewed on students' abilities when using eye-gaze computers in an educational setting. Parents were also interviewed on the implementation and effectiveness of gaze technology in the home setting. From a teacher's perspective, the results of the study indicated that the effectiveness of the eye-gaze computer was based on the teacher understanding the relationship of what the student does with the computer and what they wish to express. The study proved that students with severe disabilities were able to control the computer and express themselves.

Problem Statement

The problem was that there is a lack of information on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with CVI. There are five existing studies on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students (see: Alzrayer et al. 2017,

Biggs et al. 2018, Dindar et al 2017, Lund et al. 2017 & Rytterstrom et al. 2016). However, educators' viewpoints on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with CVI need to be explored. Compelling empirical evidence exists to support eye gaze technology as an effective and innovative intervention to improve communication and language development for nonverbal students, but little was known about nonverbal students with CVI. Eye gaze technology is currently used to reduce limitations in education, play, and communication (Hemmingsson, Ahlsten, Wandin, Rytterström, & Borgestig, 2018). In this study, I addressed one of the missing gaps in the literature by gaining a deeper understanding of educators' viewpoints on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with CVI. The research findings could promote positive social change as students with CVI are provided with opportunities to improve communication and language skills.

Purpose

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to discover the viewpoints of educators on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with CVI. Understanding educators' viewpoints on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development for nonverbal students with CVI filled a gap in the literature. This could enable educators to identify challenges and investigate accommodations to improve communication skills. The research findings promote positive social change as students with CVI were provided with opportunities using eye gaze technology to improve communication and language skills using innovative technology.

Research Question(s)

I used the following questions to guide this study:

Main research question: What are the viewpoints of educators about the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment?

Subquestion 1: What are the opinions of educators about the ease of use and complexity related to the use of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment?

Subquestion 2: How do educators feel about the social, cultural and interpersonal factors that may affect their use of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment?

Subquestion 3: What challenges do educators face when using eye gaze technology for improving communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment?

Subquestion 4: What additional supports and facilitations do educators think would improve the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this basic qualitative study was based on the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT) model (Venkatesh et al., 2003), and John Dewey's (1938) pragmatism theory. This research study was designed upon a frame of the unique combination of these theories. I used a basic qualitative design approach including recorded interviews to determine educators' viewpoints on the usefulness of eye gaze technology on language development and communication for nonverbal students with CVI.

UTAUT was a framework first introduced by Venkatesh, Morris, Davis, and Davis (2003) to provide researchers with more insight into the area of technology acceptance and adaptation. I used UTAUT (Venkatesh et al., 2003) to identify challenges and investigate accommodations to improve communication and language skills, together with John Dewey's (1938) pragmatism theory to design interview questions and guide data collection. Technology holds great promise for nonverbal students with CVI. Appropriate integration of eye gaze technology can potentially be a great equalizer in a special education classroom or during speech therapy sessions. I used these theories to examine educators' perceptions of eye gaze technology on communication and language development for nonverbal students with CVI. A more detailed analysis and guidance for this study to examine educators' viewpoints of eye gaze technology on language development and communication for nonverbal students with CVI will be provided in Chapters two and three.

Nature of the Study

I used a basic qualitative design to explore educators 'viewpoints on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with CVI. Researchers use the basic qualitative research design to learn about the experiences of participants and the meaning they form from their experiences (Bradshaw, Atkinson & Doody, 2017). The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to discover the viewpoints of educators on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with CVI. I gathered the data through face-to-face semi structured interviews as they can result in the development of shared meaning and deeper understanding of the topic between the interviewer and the interviewees (Thorne, 2016).

I conducted a qualitative study with 12 participants. The interview questions were semi structured in nature and based on emerging themes that I found in my review of the literature. I examined the transcripts for themes and coded the initial data using common themes. I created a baseline to understand educators' viewpoints on improvement of communicative skills and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment using eye gaze technology. I cross-referenced the data to provide an in depth understanding of educators' viewpoints on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with CVI.

Operational Definitions

Augmentative and Alternative Communication (AAC): Any form of communication other than oral speech (American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (ASHA, 2013). Communication which includes gestures, sign language, pictures, speech generating devices, or written communication (ASHA, 2013).

Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD): ASD and autism are both general terms for disorders of brain development (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). These disorders vary in different degrees, with weaknesses in verbal and nonverbal communication, social interactions, and repetitive behaviors (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Autism spectrum disorders were combined into one umbrella diagnosis of ASD in the DSM-5 diagnostic manual (2013). In the past, autistic disorder, childhood disintegrative disorder, pervasive developmental disorder-not, otherwise specified (PDD-NOS) and Asperger syndrome were considered subtypes of autism. American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

Communication Disorder (CD): is an impairment of communication abilities, which may involve voice, speech, language, hearing, and/or cognition (Kishner, 2018)

Cortical Visual Impairment (CVI): is a prevalent cause of visual loss in children. It encompasses a wide range of visual disabilities from no light reception to normal visual acuity with cognitive visual dysfunction (Edmond & Faroozan, 2006)

Dysarthria: is a generic term for any speech disorder caused by an alteration of strength and control of speech muscles due to damage to the brain or nerves. Dysarthria may indicate increased posterior fossa pressure on the brainstem/medulla oblongata. Common causes of dysarthria include nervous system (neurological) disorders such as stroke, brain injury, brain tumors, and conditions that cause facial paralysis or tongue or throat muscle weakness (Mayo Clinic, Nd).

Eye Gaze Technology: is a communication and control system for people with complex physical disabilities. The eye gaze system is a direct-select vision-controlled communication and control system (Romano, 2014).

Functional Communication: Any behavior including personalized movements, gestures, verbalizations, signs, pictures, words, and augmentative and alternative communication devices that express an individual's needs, wants, feelings, and

preferences that others can understand regardless of context or familiarity with the speaker ASHA, 2013)

Assumptions

I assumed that the participants would be open and honest during the interview process and provide valid answers to the interview questions. I also assumed that the participants' in this study had positive experiences while using assistive technology with students. Since the nature of the studies (software, features of the devices, etc.) have changed over time, where various forms of AAC devices are used, I hoped that participants improved knowledge and skills with continuous professional development. I assumed the interviews would provide the best method for collecting data. Finally, I assumed that results provided potential insight to guide future research in the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with CVI.

Scope

The scope of this qualitative study extended to six speech therapists and six special education teachers who work with nonverbal students with CVI. Participants were teachers and therapists who have utilized eye gaze technology when working with nonverbal students with CVI in this voluntary study. I solicited participants by posting an invitation on social media platforms (Facebook, QIAT Listserv, Instagram, and LinkedIn). The purposeful sampling included those participants who met the criteria of being a teacher or speech therapist for at least 3 years and used eye gaze technology with nonverbal students who had CVI. I interviewed a list of the eligible participants based on the criteria. Afterwards, I accepted a random sample from those who applied to be participants. The process continued until data saturation was achieved.

Delimitations

I selected the participants through purposeful sampling and limited participation to those recruited through social media platforms. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, reaching out to school districts for participants and conducting in person interviews was discouraged. Data of a personal nature irrelevant to the study was not be reviewed in order to make the selections. I eliminated personal bias through reflective journaling and using preplanned dialogue during the interview process. I refrained from making personal interpretations in the data since this was important to minimize bias. Interviews were conducted via Zoom and I took steps to protect the identity of participants. During the interview process, I refrained from making comments external to the realm of the interview questions. I recorded all interview sessions to ensure accuracy and decrease bias.

Limitations

There are limitations in every study. One limitation in this study was that I selected participants through purposive sampling, and even though they volunteered, their commitment through the data collection process was hindered because of work obligations. Teachers and therapists were required to serve students remotely due to the pandemic COVID-19 and because this was a new process, educators were stressed. Because I collected data from participants recruited from my social media platforms such as LinkedIn, QIAT Listserv, Twitter, and Instagram, the invitation may not have reached participants who do not have access to these platforms. One strategy that I used to address this matter was to increase the transferability of the study through keeping reflective journals and memos as well as recording every step taken in the process of the research in order to help other researchers replicate it in different contexts.

Another factor that could have affected the outcome of my study was my bias. To avoid my bias affecting participants responses, I designed the interview questions precisely and allowed the participants to express their opinions freely. As the interviewer, I encouraged the participants to answer the questions honestly and elaborate when necessary. However, I was very cautious about allowing my personal opinions to interfere with their experiences and viewpoints.

Significance

This research was significant because it addressed a gap in the research literature by gaining a deeper understanding of educators' viewpoints on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with CVI. Eye gaze tracking is used to assess how a student's visual behaviors change in response to the complexity of an augmentative communication device (Goldstein & Olswang, 2017). Chazin, Barton, Ledford, and Pokorski (2018) discussed planning instruction with the incorporation of eye gaze technology to promote engagement in activities for all students with diverse needs and varying abilities. Chazin et. al. (2018) stated that educators must consider presenting materials in such a way to ensure that all students have access to both core curriculum and expanded core curriculum activities. Most nonverbal students with autism are at high-risk for cortical visual impairment and may be sensitive to specific colors, brightness, contrast, complexity, novel vs familiar images, and movement (Kaldy et al., 2016). The findings of this study may promote positive social change by providing educators with additional tools to assist students with improvement in communication and language skills.

Summary

Chapter 1 began with an introduction to the study using the background to explain a brief summary of the use of eye gaze technologies to support and facilitate communication skills and language development of nonverbal students with CVI. I used a basic qualitative approach for this study, including recorded interviews to determine educators' viewpoints on the usefulness of eye gaze technology of language development and communication for nonverbal students with CVI.

In the problem statement section, I explained the lack of information on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with CVI and the need for accommodations. I designed the research questions to gather insight on the viewpoints of educators on the topic. The conceptual framework for this study was based on UTAUT (Venkatesh et al., 2003) and John Dewey's (1938) pragmatism theories. Chapter 2 contains the literature review, which I used to establish the gap in the research literature. The literature review consisted of peer-reviewed journal articles on subject matter related to the dissertation topic. All articles were published within the past 5 years at the writing of my study.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

In this study, I examined the lack of information on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with CVI. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to discover the viewpoints of educators on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with CVI.

This chapter includes a literature review of related research and the conceptual framework that I used to investigate the topic, research questions, and the methodology that I used in this study. This study was conducted on the foundation of UTAUT (Venkatesh et al., 2003), and John Dewey's (1938) pragmatism theories. The unique combination of these theories were used to provide a frame upon which the study was designed. I used a basic qualitative design approach including recorded interviews to understand educators' viewpoints on the usefulness of eye gaze technology on language development and communication for nonverbal students with CVI. This chapter will include the literature search strategy, conceptual framework, a literature review related to key concepts and conclusion.

Literature Search Strategy

The research studies chosen for this literature review focused on visual processing differences and eye gaze technology. Eye gaze technology has been used in this way for many years in the research field, but it is only now educators are able to use this technology in the classroom (Dawson, 2006). Teachers and therapists can analyze students' eye gaze behaviors and provide objective and functional feedback. With the

right tools, educators can observe what students see, attend to and track on screen, what they notice and do not notice, what they prefer to look at and what sense they make of what they see. These are fundamental skills that most educators have not had the tools to assess or look at in detail before now. Such understanding of the most complex students could lead to changes in teaching practice and provide wider opportunities for students who are visually weak, to interact and engage.

Databases were used to conduct current and relevant research. I used Walden University's Library portal as one gateway for accessing Academic Search Complete, ERIC, Education Resource Complete, SAGE, ProQuest, the Dissertation and Theses databases, and the Thoreau Multiple Databases tool. Additionally, I used Google Scholar to cross-reference articles and search for more current literature. I also used online libraries to locate journals, texts, and articles pertaining to the viewpoints of educators on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with CVI.

In order to establish and maintain academic rigor in the literature review, all articles were limited to those refereed or peer reviewed. Dawidowicz (2010) advised that researchers needed to construct a series of questions to find relevant articles and sufficiently narrow the topic. My exploration of research literature was guided by the research questions and relevance to the topic. During the literature search process, it was necessary to revise search terms and limiters to find current articles.

I used the following keywords in the literature review of this study: *complex communication needs (CCNs), augmentative and alternative communication (AAC), technology acceptance, Dewey pragmatism theory, unified theory of acceptance and use*

of technology (UTAUT), Brain-computer interfaces (BCIs), augmentative and alternative communication (AAC), communicative skills and language development, visual processing differences, cortical visual impairment (CVI), speech generating device (SGD), and autism spectrum disorder (ASD).

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this basic qualitative study was based on the UTAUT model (Venkatesh et al., 2003), and John Dewey's (1938) pragmatism theory. The unique combination of these theories were used to provide a frame upon which the study could be designed. I used a basic qualitative design approach including recorded interviews to determine educators' viewpoints on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with CVI.

UTAUT was a framework first introduced by Venkatesh et al. (2003) to provide researchers with more insight into the area of technology acceptance and adaptation. I used UTAUT (Venkatesh et al., 2003) to identify challenges and investigate accommodations to improve communication and language skills, together with John Dewey's (1938) pragmatism theory, which I used to create the structure of the interview questions and data collection.

Technology holds promise for nonverbal students with CVI. Appropriate integration of eye gaze technology can potentially be an equalizer in a special education classroom or during speech therapy sessions. These theories offered insight and guidance for my study to examine educators' perceptions of eye gaze technology on communication and language development for nonverbal students with CVI.

Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology

The technology acceptance model (TAM) has its root in social psychology and information technology. TAM was introduced as one of the first theories to explore and understand the behavioral intentions of users (Davis, 1989). However, various technology acceptance models with some differences and similarities were identified addressing the needs and intentions of diverse users. Hence, a new unified model was proposed to merge with the existing models and theories of technology acceptance that can address the integration of various forms of technology in individuals' lives and their level of satisfaction with them at the same time. Therefore, the UTAUT model was introduced (Wingo, Ivankova, & Moss, 2017; Venkatesh et al., 2003).

The UTAUT model was constructed on eight leading theories in various disciplines (Venkatesh et al. 2003). UTAUT was a framework first introduced by Venkatesh et al. (2003) to provide researchers with more information on the area of technology acceptance and adaptation (Parameswarn et al., 2015). Venkatesh et al. (2003) focused on performance expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence, and facilitating conditions as the four core constructs determining behavior intention and use behavior derived from the empirical comparison of the eight prominent theories of the UTAUT model (Venkatesh et al., 2003).

Individuals have different beliefs and levels of confidence when it comes to the utilization of various forms of technology. Some people believe that using technologies could do more harm than good, and others think that using technological tools could help them make advancements in their daily tasks (Parameswarn et al., 2015). Performance

expectancy (PE) is defined as the degree to which individuals assume that the utilization of technology might be productive and enhancing their daily lives (Venkatesh et al. 2003). Perceived usefulness, extrinsic motivation, job-fit, relative advantage, and outcome expectations are five significant elements derived from PE (Maruping, Bala, Venkatesh, & Brown, 2017). Different forms of technologies are continually being invented to maximize the job performances of employees and multi-million-dollar companies adopt technical tools to improve their organizations' environment and short and long-term turnovers (Carlson, Carlson, Zivnuska, Harris, & Harris, 2017). Accordingly, employees and employers should develop an understanding of whether using a particular technological tool could assist them in making professional advancement. Perceived usefulness (PU) refers to the degree to which individuals find technologies influential in achieving improvements and enhancing their job performance (Venkatesh et al. 2013). Extrinsic motivation in psychology is a form of motivation that arises from outside sources and external rewards aiming at helping an individual achieve an objective (Kuvaas, Buch, Weibel, Dysvik, & Nerstad, 2017). Extrinsic motivation in UTAUT (Venkatesh et al., 2003) is defined as a degree to which people are willing to use technology as an outside source because it might help them obtain a particularly desirable outcome (Kucukusta, Law, Besbes, & Legoherel, 2015). Even though using various forms of technologies can have a positive impact on individuals' personal, professional, educational, and social lives, it might also create some challenges and consequences (Abbasi, Tarhini, Elyas, & Shah, 2015). Outcome expectation is the last influential

factors in performance expectancy that is defined as the possible consequence that individuals may face when using technologies in their everyday lives (Workman, 2014).

Effort expectancy (EE) is another core construct of UTAUT (Venkatesh et al., 2003). EE is defined as the degree to which individuals can easily use various forms of technologies. Perceived ease of use, complexity, and ease of use are known as the key constructs of effort expectancy (Venkatesh et al. 2003). Most people are willing to utilize technology because they think that using different types of technologies could make the fulfillment of their daily tasks easier, and it can bring more practicality to their everyday lives. Perceived ease of use is the extent to which individuals believe that they can utilize technologies without facing difficulties (Venkatesh et al. 2003). However, some forms of technologies are more frequently used than others because they are less complicated in design and learning to work with them is easier. These types of technologies are known to have less complexity. Complexity is defined as the degree to which a technology is seen as difficult to use and understand (Venkatesh et al. 2003). . Even though some technologies are thought to be easy to use, when individuals try to actually utilize them in their real life, they face many challenges. Therefore, a distinction has to be made between perceived ease of use and ease of use. Ease of use is defined as the degree to which an innovation is simple to use, whereas perceived ease of use refers to an individual's speculations about the difficulty of utilizing a system. (Alalwan, Dwivedi, Rana, & Williams, 2016; Elkaseh, Wong, & Fung, 2016).

Social influence is another significant core construct of the UTAUT (Venkatesh et al., 2003). Social influence is the degree to which individuals' use of technology depends

on the perception of the people around them and their environment (Dwivedi et al., 2017). Subjective norm, social factors, and image are the three influential factors in the development of social influence as one of the UTAUT key constructs (Venkatesh et al. 2003). Individuals' actions and thoughts are affected by their society, environment, and people close to them. Therefore, some decisions that these individuals make even when it comes to using certain forms of technologies are influenced by the perceptions and judgments of others. A subjective norm is the understanding of individuals about the perception of people around them on technology use. Social factors are the social, cultural, and interpersonal agreements that individuals have formed with their peers on the utilization of technology in a specific social context (Venkatesh et al., 2014). Finally, the last key element of social influence is image that refers to the degree to which users believe that utilization of specific innovations might enhance their socio-cultural status (Cimperman, Brencic, & Turkman, 2016).

Facilitating condition is the last core construct of the UTAUT model (Venkatesh et al., 2003). Facilitating condition is the degree to which individuals who use certain technologies believe that a reliable and well-funded support system was established to help them with the technology (Venkatesh et al. 2003). The findings suggest that the stronger the system of support or customer service of a particular form of technology is, there would be a higher chance that people may use this technology or find it easy to use (Venkatesh et al., 2014).. Perceived behavioral control, facilitating conditions, and compatibility are derived from facilitating conditions. Perceived behavioral control refers to the extent to which individuals think that the availability of recourses might help them

with the utilization of a certain technological tool (Venkatesh et al. 2003). The other influential factor is facilitating conditions. Facilitating conditions are the environmental factors and behaviors that individuals think that might affect the accomplishment of their tasks and daily activities positively. Lastly, compatibility is the last conditional factor of the UTAUT (Venkatesh et al., 2003) and is the degree to which individuals find a system or a technological tool consistent with their social norms, values, and experiences (Maillet, Mathieu, & Sicotte, 2015).

The UTAUT theory (Venkatesh et al., 2003) focuses on examining the intentions of individuals to use a specific form of technology and identify influential factors on acceptance in different contexts in a real-world environment (Williams, Rana, & Dwivedi, 2015). Accordingly, a questionnaire was designed to measure individuals' technology acceptance through four constructs. The above-mentioned questionnaire also identified gender, age, experience, and voluntariness of use as mediating factors. The age and experience factors can moderate the connection between facilitating conditions and intention to use. When the experience of users increases, the relationship between facilitating conditions and intention to use also increases, and the relationship can be best found in the older ages.

Celik, (2016); Bervell and Umar, (2017) and Jewer (2018) conducted studies focusing on the UTAUT model (Venkatesh et al., 2003) and various factors influencing it and stemming from it. Attitudes, anxiety, and self-efficacy as new mediating elements and age, experience, gender, and voluntariness as old parameters have been identified as the significant factors having an impact on the formation of the UTAUT model (Celik,
2016; Bervell, & Umar, 2017; Jewer, 2018). Researchers started conducting new research in academic environments and using various forms of technologies as educational tools utilizing the UTAUT model (Venkatesh et al., 2003). The results of these studies supported the findings of previous works about the effectiveness of performance expectancy, effort expectancy, facilitating conditions, and attitude toward using technology on technology acceptance among users as core constructs of the UTAUT (Chan, Gong, Xu, & Thong, 2008; Burton-Jones & Sraub, 2006). Gender and age were also confirmed as main moderating factors of the UTAUT model. The results of studies revealed that adolescents and youth showed more interest in utilizing different forms of technologies in their daily lives (Abu-Shanab & Pearson, 2009). Other findings suggested that performance expectancy positively affected men's willingness to use different types of technology in comparison to women (Afonso, Roldan Salgueiro, Sanchez Franco, & González, 2012). Their discoveries also suggested that some other factors such as motivation might have an influence on individuals' intentions of technology use.

Further studies resulted in looking for extensions to the UTAUT model and suggested that even though the UTAUT model can be influential in educational environments, certain modifications have to be made to it to make it appropriately fit educational settings (Brown & Venkatesh, 2005; Bagozzi, 2007).

Figure 1

The UTAUT Model



Modified from Wingo, N. P., Ivankova, N. V., & Moss, J. A. (2017) Faculty perceptions about teaching online: exploring the literature using the technology acceptance model as an organizing framework, Online Learning 21(1), 15-35. doi: 10.10.24059/olj. v21i1.761

Dewey's Pragmatism Theory

Dewey (1938) believed in pragmatic philosophy where human beings adapt to their environment and their actions are a direct result of that adaptation. Therefore, the experiences of human beings within their environments are the basis of Dewey's pragmatic and constructivist theories. According to Dewey, human experiences within an environment can change the course of action and the effects of various factors within the environment which can directly influence outcomes (Dewey, 1938). Human activities within an environment can bring about a reaction that is either favorable or unfavorable creating the theory that life goes on through interaction with the environmental experiences create a basis for, and influence, learning outcomes.

Literature Review and Related Concepts

Abilities and Types of Communication

Typically, developing children have the ability to concurrently learn multiple communication skills (Chazin, 2018) Such skills include joint attention and social interaction. However, children with ASD do not have this ability, and are known to develop such skills sequentially (Chazin, 2018). They often make their intentions known with motions of their hands and body to compensate for their inadequacies in other forms of communication such as eye contact and gestures (Chazin, 2018). Joint attention skills should be promoted in children with ASD if they are to reach their full potential in relation to social interaction skills (Biggs, 2018). Limited intentionality is a critical deficit in children with ASD (Chazin, 2018). Alzrayer (2017) found that children with ASD exhibited lower levels of intentional communication compared to their typically developing counterparts. The types of communications that were examined included gestures and eye gaze. Similarly, Dindar (2017) found deficits in joint attention skills in children with ASD compared to their typically developing peers. Konst et al. (2014) examined nonverbal communication skills in infants and toddlers with both comorbid ASD and cerebral palsy, and infants and toddlers with Down syndrome or cerebral palsy alone. The study found that children with both cerebral palsy and ASD had more deficits in nonverbal communication skills than those with either cerebral palsy or Down syndrome alone.

In their longitudinal study with twelve 3-6-year-old preschool children with ASD, Kaldy (2016) investigated deficits in relation to difficulties with making nonverbal expressions such as imitations, postures, gestures, facial expressions, and eye contact. They found that only two children had adequate ability to make eye contact, another five children had limited ability, while the other five had no ability to make eye contact. Similarly, the children had difficulty in making facial expressions and expression of gestures. Only two children had adequate ability to make facial expressions, while the rest either had limited ability or no ability at all. With regard to expression of gestures, only one child had adequate ability; the majority of the remainder had no ability at all. These results are not surprising because parents of children with ASD are often able to detect what may be regarded as ASD specific symptoms as early as the first year. These symptoms include inability to make facial expressions, and retention or initiation of eye contact in their children.

Nonverbal Nonverbal Communication and ASD

The area of nonverbal communication in children with ASD is an important research subject especially in the area of special education (Robillard, 2018). The shifting of another person's gaze to an object, thereby making a connection that shifting of the gaze to the object is intended to convey meaning is incredible. In typically developing children, the development of nonverbal attention is evident at 9-12 months of age, but this same behavior is severely lacking in children with ASD (Pau, 2018). Sievers (2018) used mechanical toys as a prompt for children with ASD to follow an adult's gaze. After a number of training sessions with three 4-year old children with ASD, the mechanical prompt was deliberately delayed in a progressive manner and eventually done away with altogether after the children had successfully learned gaze following and even located objects with the gaze alone. Success in delayed cue training meant that the stimulus to shift the gaze.

Chazin (2018) similarly argued that children with ASD who are nonverbal share experiences: gestures such as showing, coordinated looks between people and objects, and pointing. There are also nonverbal gestures for requesting instead of sharing, such as pointing, offering, and reaching to solicit help. Nevertheless, such deficiencies are not uniform in this constituency of children. There are research studies that have found similarities between children with ASD and their typically developing peers in relation to how they make requests (Hemmingsson, 2018), but other studies show deficits among children with ASD compared to their typically developing peers (Robillard, 2018). The divergence of opinion noted above thus formed the reason for a study to investigate when nonverbal skills emerge in children with ASD (12-60 months of age) and in typically developing children of the same age (Sievers, 2017). Interestingly, requesting skills in both children with ASD and typically developing children emerged at the same time, but the sequence with which joint attention skills emerged in children with ASD deviated from the normative model, especially response skills in showing and following gaze. These results resemble those of Robillard (2018) who found lower levels of intentional communication in children with ASD compared to their typically developing counterparts.

Assessment of the Nonverbal Communication Profile

Lund (2017) used a qualitative study to explore how speech-language pathologists (SLPs) who are also augmentative and alternative communication (AAC) specialists, assess one student with cerebral palsy and another student with autism spectrum disorder (ASD). The goal was to focus on the approach by clinicians when assessing children with developmental delays, motor and social deficits. Participants of this study included eight English-speaking certified SLPs. The findings provided some similarities and emerging themes from the data within the area of focus, the method of assessment, parent education and evaluative criteria. Sievers (2018) examined nonverbal communication skills in children with ASD. There were 23 children with ASD with a chronological age (CA) of 32.79 months and another 22 typically developing children with a mental age (MA) of 18-20 months. There was also a group of 23 children whose mental and chronological age was matched; all of them had developmental delay. Another group of participants

were 22 typically developing 13-15-month-old toddlers and infants. Nonverbal communication skills including social interaction, requesting, and joint attention were assessed for developmental timelines.

The nonverbal communication profile of the children with ASD was different from children in the other groups. The children with ASD showed deviant patterns in how they used nonverbal communication. The variation could not be attributed to their mental ages. Joint attention deficits in children with ASD were higher when compared to the delayed comparison group as well as the typically developing infants and toddlers. In addition, a dyadic interaction such as turn taking skill was found to be impaired among the children with ASD (Sievers, 2018).

Language Development

The ability to use language for communication is critical for developmental,

academic, and social success for young children. Yew and O'Kearney (2015) stated that when preschool-aged children exhibit delays in language, they are more likely to exhibit behavioral challenges, and difficulties involving academic work, and social exchanges later in life. Furthermore, their ability to use verbal language contributes to their early reading, writing and mathematics skill development (Yew & O'Kearney, 2015). Yew and O'Kearney (2015) also revealed that when a child is referred for an autism diagnosis, parents often express their concerns with speech delays and communication, and express that they would like their child to verbally communicate. Hence, exploring the specific interventions that promote expressive, verbal communication for preschool children with autism is essential (Yew & O'Kearney, 2015).

For most individuals, verbal communication is the most efficient and most widely understood way to communicate. The speaker does not need to rely on pictures, symbols, or gestures to supplement their communication, and it is considered more efficient than other pre-verbal or non-speech communication (Romski, Seycik, Barton-Hulsey and Whitmore, 2015). Under the Verbal Behavior approach, children can learn how to make a request using a variety of different tools or AAC aids, e.g. gestures, sign language, pictures, Speech Generated Devices (SGD), or iPads. AAC aids and tools are effective for increasing functional communication (Brady, Bruce, Goldman, Erickson, Mineo, Ogletree & Wilkinson, 2016).

However, the literature provides inconsistent evidence concerning the development of verbal communication while using AAC for preschool-aged children with autism (Ganz, 2014). Further, compared to interventions that directly target verbal communication, speech takes longer to develop when using an AAC intervention (Romski et al., 2015). Looking specifically at the use of the Picture Exchange Communication System (PECS), preschool participants did not begin to use verbal communication until the fourth PECS phase, after 20 or more intervention sessions (Brady et al., 2016).

Principles of Cortical Visual Impairment (CVI)

Children with CVI and CCN, complex communication needs, are at high risk for cognitive, sensory motor, social, language, literacy, communication, and participation

(Hadid, 2017). They need targeted interventions to develop functional vision, engage in meaningful interactions, and have consistent learning opportunities. Nonverbal children with CVI need access to a range of assisted AAC strategies, tools and technologies in order to participate actively in family, school, and community, and communicate effectively (Hadid, 2017).

Challenges

After examining the literature, there are questions related to educators' ability meeting the unique needs of children with CVI. The concerns include communications specialist willingness to make accommodations for students with CVI. If educators do not collaborate, a student with CVI who uses AAC may have difficulty gaining access to this critical thing of language communication and learning, their education. In addition, there is a chance that many of the students who have CVI in classrooms today may not be diagnosed with the CVI. This means that AAC professionals have to be particularly cognizant of the possibility that the child may have CVI and accommodate accordingly.

CVI and AAC

Educators should be aware of how CVI affects development, learning, communication, and participation across domains (Bracher & Matta, 2017). A student's functional vision assessment is linked to the ability to learn. It is critical to understand that accommodation strategies should be based on valid and reliable assessment data and longitudinal measures of outcomes for those intervention strategies that support children with CVI who use AAC. They are not separate entities in this process.

Meeting the Needs

The main purpose of my study is to increase availability to relevant content for communication, leisure and learning in a way that is time effective, reasonably easy technically, and that helps the child to learn and develop (Cudd, 2017). Gaze controlled technology is perceived as a beneficial tool for children with severe multiple disabilities. The children may learn to participate in activities not previously possible, and research indicates that the opportunity to experience new things and discover new abilities lead to increased possibilities to learn and develop (Chazin, 2018). Cudd (2017) stated that it has also been proven that gaze controlled technology can provide children with language to communicate. However, the work that needs to be put in to make gaze control usable in an efficient way is perceived as difficult and time-consuming by both parents and professionals (Cudd, 2017).

Robillard (2018) discovered that in order to meet the needs of as many children as possible, software grids were developed for nine different combination of needs. This solution was beneficial because a caregiver or a professional could easily select the content suited for a particular child. To ensure maximum outcome of these target profiles, it is of great importance that the profiles are detailed, yet easy to understand (Robillard, 2018). Even if the project aims to provide pedagogical support in those software grids, it will be too much of a challenge to cater to every curriculum. The project has instead created templates for teachers to use in their lessons, in the hope of facilitating the everyday pedagogical tasks (Sievers, 2017).

Evidence-Based Interventions and Practices

Dukhovny and Kelly, (2015) revealed that the problem is to know how visual therapies can target residual visual abilities when neurophysiological correlates are so divergent between patients. A review explained how combined rehabilitation tools using visual training can enhance blindsight by targeting an inefficient global framework (Dukhovny & Kelly, 2015). Blindsight, defined as an unconscious residual visual ability, can come with or without awareness, but except in rare cases, does not elicit visual awareness (Hadid, 2017). The reason why some patients may not present residual vision or awareness could include an inability to allocate sufficient attention to the information presented in the blind hemi field and to access their own state of consciousness. By understanding blind sight within the global workspace theory (Hadid, 2017), discussed the lack of visual awareness as a lack of neuronal synchrony and global availability between inefficient workspaces of attention, perception and consciousness that can be targeted and optimized with rehabilitation tools. Therefore, it would be possible to pass from a state of no awareness to a state of awareness to a state of visual awareness (alternative visual abilities) by moving the thresholds of attention, perception and consciousness via stimulation of the pathways and creating connections between different processors (Hadid, 2017). By doing so, we could target higher visual areas, induce loops with higher cognitive areas, synchronization of neuronal activity and global availability, and potentially it would lead to visual consciousness (Hadid, 2017).

Augmentative and Alternative Communication

Pitt (2018) stated that Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCIs) could provide access to augmentative and alternative communication (AAC) devices using neurological activity alone without voluntary movements. As with traditional AAC access methods, BCI performance may be influenced by the cognitive-sensory-motor and motor imagery profiles of those who use these devices (Brumberg, Mantie-Kozlowski & Burnison, 2018).

Brumberg et al (2018) proposed a person-centered, feature-matching framework consistent with clinical AAC best practices to ensure selection of the most appropriate BCI technology to meet individuals' communication needs. The proposed feature matching procedure was based on the current state of the art in BCI technology and published reports on cognitive, sensory, motor, and motor imagery factors important for successful operation of BCI devices (Brumberg et al., 2018). This resulted in a successful selection of BCI for accessing AAC. The set of features that support each BCI option are discussed in a hypothetical case format to model possible transition of BCI research from the laboratory into clinical AAC applications (Brumberg et al., 2018). This procedure is an initial step toward consideration of feature matching assessment for the full range of BCI devices. Future investigations are needed to fully examine how person-centered factors influence BCI performance across devices (Pitt, 2018).

Alzrayer, Banda & Koul (2017) used a multi-probe design approach that included a baseline sessions, intervention and generalizations. This quantitative study revealed that all participants were successful at varying degrees with combining symbols to request preferred items and navigating across pages. The intervention was effective when using multistep requests with the iPad and the participants demonstrated the newly acquired skill of using icons to communicate. Some of the limitations with this study included participants who were provided with verbal cues and participants who displayed challenging behaviors during the study. My study emphasizes the need for improvement on communicative skills for nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment using eye gaze technology.

Biggs, Carter and Gilson (2018) examined several experimental research studies that involved aided alternative augmentative communication (AAC) demonstration to endorse expressive communication from children with complex communication needs (CCN). This review addressed the instructive framework used to describe the main differences in aided AAC modeling and the interventions that had a positive impact on students with CCN. The findings revealed that modeling was a prominent aspect amongst the packaged interventions and students communicated frequently with increased vocabulary. My research will involve supporting the need for improvement on communicative skills for nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment, using eye gaze technology with a focus on linguistic targets.

Dindar, Korkiakangas, Laitila and Karna (2017) discussed increased use of eye tracking technology to study gaze behaviors in individuals with autism spectrum disorders (ASD). The research study focused on the gaze behaviors of three children, ages eleven, eight and six, diagnosed with ASD, using an educational game. Dindar et al. (2017) hypothesized that combining quantitative eye tracking with a qualitative video-

based approach will provide an accurate measure of the usefulness of eye gaze technology in social situations. Data collected measured gaze habits away from the game and toward others in the room.

The conversation analysis (CA) approach that involved the collection of audiovisual recordings in a normal everyday school setting was analyzed using the qualitative method. Dindar et al. (2017) confirmed that children with ASD are active social participants instead of passive observers. This relates to my research by discussing the gaze behaviors of nonverbal children with disabilities as they communicated to play a video game. The gap of improving communication partner behaviors of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment using eye gaze technology will be addressed with my research study.

Lund, Quach, Weissling, McKelvey & Dietz, A. (2017) used a qualitative study to explore how SLPs who are also augmentative and alternative communication (AAC) specialists, assess one student with cerebral palsy and another student with autism spectrum disorder (ASD). The goal was to focus on the approach by clinicians when assessing children with developmental delays, motor and social deficits. Participants of this study included eight English-speaking certified SLPs. The findings provided some similarities and emerging themes from the data within the area of focus, the method of assessment, parent education and evaluative criteria. In the end, the results of the study provided a formal assessment procedure for children with CCN. This relates to my study because it was based on therapists' perceptions. Robillard, Roy-Charland & Cazabon (2018) studied the role cognition played within the directional progression of speech-generating devices (SGD) amongst students with autism spectrum disorders (ASD). The main goal was to study the role of cognitive factors on 20 students ages 5 to 20 years old using the Leiter International Scale (LIS) and Working Memory Assessment (WMA). The iPad 4 was also used to complete navigational tasks, which revealed an important connection between the ability to navigate the SGD and cognitive ability. Robillard et al. (2018) further discovered that cognitive flexibility predicted the navigational skills of students with ASD. This relates to my research by supporting the need for accommodations for nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment who use eye gaze technology.

Rytterstrom, Borgestig & Hemmingsson (2016) studied the use of eye-gaze technology by nonverbal students with severe motor impairment from a teacher and parent perspective. Eleven different schools participated in the study where teachers and assistants were interviewed on students' abilities when using eye-gaze computers in an educational setting. Parents were also interviewed on the implementation and effectiveness of gaze technology in the home setting. From a teacher's perspective, the results of the study indicated that the effectiveness of the eye-gaze computer was based on the teacher understanding the relationship of what the student does with the computer and what they wish to express. The study proved that students with severe disabilities were able to control the computer and express themselves. My study will explore accommodations for nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment who use eye gaze technology.

Gaps in the Literature

Based on the review of the literature, it was discovered that there were discrepancies on the ability of visual therapies targeting residual visual abilities. Communication deficits are a defining feature of Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD), manifested during social interactions (Wadge, 2019). Previous studies investigating communicative deficits have largely focused on the perceptual biases, social motivation, cognitive flexibility, or mentalizing abilities of isolated individuals. Wadge (2019) stated that by embedding autistic individuals in live nonverbal interactions, we characterized a novel cause for their communication deficits. Future studies should analyze the tools and indicators regarding the assessment process of assistive technologies for nonverbal students with CVI.

After examining the literature, there was very little evidence supporting educators' viewpoints related to the usefulness of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with CVI. There were some barriers identified in the current research that affected implementation of eye gaze technology. Understanding educators' viewpoints on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development for nonverbal students with CVI filled a gap in the research literature. This could enable educators to identify challenges and investigate accommodations to improve communication skills. The research findings could promote positive social change as students with CVI are provided with opportunities using eye gaze technology to improve communication and language skills using innovative technology. As a result, this topic was explored further.

Summary and Conclusions

The literature review in chapter two presented studies related to the use of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of students with CVI. Even though the equipment is costly, school districts are able to solicit funds to offset the high cost. Eye gaze technology is used for educational purposes, communication and language development. There are only a few studies that researched the use of eye gaze technology linked to CVI for communications and no studies exploring educator's perception on the usefulness of eye gaze technology with communication and language development for nonverbal students with CVI. The methodology for this study will be presented in chapter three. Research design and questions, ethical procedures, the role of the researcher, data collection and analysis will be discussed.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to discover the viewpoints of educators on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with CVI. Understanding educators' viewpoints on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with CVI filled a gap in the literature and research. This may enable educators to identify challenges and investigate accommodations to improve communication and language skills. The research findings could promote positive social change as students with CVI are provided with opportunities using eye gaze technology to improve communication and language development using innovative technology.

I selected a basic qualitative design to find answers to the research question, subquestions, and to collect data (Merriam & Tisdell. In this chapter, I will present one main research questions and four subquestions. The research design and a rationale on why this approach was selected will be discussed. The role of the researcher and the strategies I utilized to face any possible biases and challenges during all stages were addressed. In the methodology section, the participant recruitment procedure, the instruments used in the research and, the interview questions as well as the data collection procedure and analysis plan will be presented. Finally, the credibility, transferability, dependability, and conformity of the research together with the ethical procedures of the study, will be discussed. This section includes the rationale for the selection of participants for the study, instrumentation, procedures for the recruitment of participants, and issues of trustworthiness. Each section includes supporting information in sufficient detail to provide the reader with the procedures and processes necessary to recreate or extend the study. The section will conclude with a comprehensive data analysis plan.

Research Design and Rationale

In order to gain a deeper understanding of what educators' viewpoints are about the usefulness of eye gaze technology on communication and language development for nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment, one main research question and four subquestions were designed.

Main research question: What are the viewpoints of educators about the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment?

Subquestion 1: What are the opinions of educators about the ease of use and complexity related to the use of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment?

Subquestion 2: How do educators feel about the social, cultural and interpersonal factors that may affect their use of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment?

Subquestion 3: What challenges do educators face when using eye gaze technology for improving communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment?

Sub question 4: What additional supports and facilitations do educators think would improve the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment?

The central concepts for this study include Dewey's (1938) theories of pragmatism and the UTAUT model (Venkatesh et al., 2003). The foundation of this qualitative study was developed on the UTAUT model (Venkatesh et al., 2003), and John Dewey's (1938) pragmatism theory, to find answers to the research question and learn about participants' ideas. I also used AAC as a more general concept that can assist in gaining more knowledge about what educators think about the utilization of eye gaze technology for communication and language development.

According to the purpose of the study and the questions, I sought answers by selecting a research design that could have been quantitative, qualitative or mixed methods. In a quantitative design, researchers formulate hypotheses and assumptions based on their prior knowledge and expectations of the result by designing every step carefully in advance (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). In a qualitative design, researchers have no prior knowledge about the topic and they aim to gain a deeper understanding about individuals' experiences and perceptions utilizing a more flexible design and paying more attention to contextual details (Patton, 2015). The purpose of this study was to find out the views of educators about the usefulness of eye gaze technology on communication and language development for nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment. I have no prior knowledge of what their opinions and the result of study might be. Therefore, I intend to select a qualitative design to be able to learn more about

educators' personal feelings, and thoughts about eye gaze technology on communication and language development of nonverbal students with CVI. Mixed methods, which uses a combination of both quantitative and qualitative methods, was not be suitable for my study because my goal is to gather details about the feelings and viewpoints of the participants. Hence the decision to use a generic qualitative framework.

The basic qualitative research design helps the researcher to learn more about what the participants think (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). Throughout the meaning-making process of their experiences, participants become able to express their beliefs, opinions, and feelings toward the subject being studied (Patton, 2015). Merriam and Tisdell (2015) stated that basic qualitative design best fits educational research and help the researchers find in-depth information regarding the most effective teaching and learning processes. In this study I provided descriptive insight about participants' ideas and viewpoints on the utilization of eye gaze technology that is used to design an innovative pedagogy. Hence, a qualitative basic design was utilized as the most appropriate research design.

Role of the Researcher

The most significant instrument in a qualitative study is the researcher who must gain meaningful and authentic data that results in conducting valid and reliable research (Marshall & Rossman, 2015). My role as the researcher was to collect data, analyze, and synthesize it to find appropriate answers to research questions as well as reporting the outcome precisely and with no bias. Another critical role for me as the researcher in this study was to provide participants with consent forms and ensure that they were willing to take part in the study. I also established a good rapport with them by creating a friendly, respectful, and a safe environment.

My responsibility as the qualitative researcher was to address the gap in the literature through gaining in-depth understanding of the topic. The findings of this study assisted me with fulfilling my duties as a researcher and filling a part of the gap in literature on the topic of the usefulness of eye gaze technology on communication and language development for nonverbal students with CVI. I provided other researchers and educators with more in-depth knowledge on the utilization of eye gaze technology as an effective tool. This can lead to innovative techniques and strategies that could accommodate visual processing differences. However, my enthusiasm for using eye gaze technology as an effective communication tool and my personal belief that eye gaze technology can improve communication and language development, could lead to bias. In order to control my biases as the researcher, I kept reflective journals and made precise notes during the entire process.

Participation Selection Logic

Participants of this study were six speech therapists and six special education teachers recruited via an invitation posted on social media platforms (Facebook, QIAT Listserv, Instagram, and LinkedIn). The guidelines for each of these platforms were adhered to when posting the invitation. Once the participants responded to the invitation, the ethical procedure of verifying eligibility through asking questions related to the specific population and providing a consent form was required. The criteria for participant selection were that the participants were currently using eye gaze technology with nonverbal students who have CVI and the participants had 3 years prior experience working with students who use eye gaze technology. The determination of selected participants for the initial interviews was based upon the first 12 eligible participants to respond to the invitation. This correlates to Patton (2015), who suggested that saturation can occur between six and 12 participants.

In order to ensure that all the participants met the criteria of participation of this study, I contacted the possible candidates prior to the interview and informally inquired about their viewpoints of using eye gaze technology with nonverbal students who have CVI. Participants responded to the social media invitation and the following preliminary questions confirmed eligibility:

- How long have you been teaching/providing speech therapy to students?
- Do you work with nonverbal students who use eye gaze technology?
- How many years of experience do you have working with students who use eye gaze technology?

Participants met all criteria previously stated and completed a signed consent form. The interviews began with the first 12 participants whose consent forms reached me. Another four participants were on a reserve list to be interviewed if saturation did not occur during the first 12 interviews. If saturation had not been achieved after exhausting the 12 interviews, a second round of interviews would have been initiated focusing on what was missing after a careful analysis of the collected information.

I conducted interviews via Zoom due to COVID-19 and the current social distancing situation. Each interview was recorded and transcribed. The findings of Hagaman and Amber Wutich (2017) together with the discoveries of Guest, Bunce, and Johnson (2006), suggested that the first stage of identification of themes usually emerge within the first six interviews and the second and third stages of theme identification occur between the first 10 to 16 interviews. The authors have concluded that data saturation usually takes place within six to 12 interviews. Accordingly, a sample size of eight to 12 can be sufficient before the researcher arrives at the point of saturation of data (Pietkiewicz & Smith, 2014; Patton, 2015). In this study, I achieved a wide range of participants' viewpoints and reflections on the utilization of eye gaze technology as an effective tool for communication and language development for nonverbal students with CVI. Palinkas, Horwitz, Green, Wisdom, Duan, and Hoagwood (2015) stated that data saturation occurs when the acquired patterns and themes from the collected data become redundant, and that is when no further data is needed to be gathered. After categorizing and analyzing the data acquired from 12 participants, I believed that saturation occurred. The selected participants were from two different categories. There was no repetitive pattern and no new themes emerged. I understood that saturation had taken place and no more data needed to be collected.

Instrumentation

The instrumentation for my study was semi structured interviews that were directly related to the research question and sub questions. I used UTAUT (Venkatesh et al., 2003) to identify challenges and investigate accommodations to improve communication and language skills, together with John Dewey's (1938) pragmatism theory, which provided the structure to guide the interview questions and data collection. In this study, I aimed to elicit information about the ideas and viewpoints of educators on the utilization of eye gaze technology as a communication tool when working with nonverbal students with CVI, through the designed interview questions. The background and summary questions included was used to introduce and conclude the interview. They were general inquiry questions to introduce the study and to help the participant feel more comfortable. I asked the participants about how they feel and what their thoughts were on using eye gaze technology with nonverbal students and their perceptions about the effectiveness of the utilization of eye gaze technology in their communicative process. The primary purpose was to ask questions that would help me to collect data about the usefulness of eye gaze technology on communication and language development for nonverbal students with CVI.

I collected data through face-to-face semi structured interviews via Zoom. This resulted in the development of shared meaning and deeper understanding of the topic between the interviewer and the interviewees. The interview questions were open-ended and aligned with the conceptual frameworks. It was not necessary to add questions related subjects and themes that emerged during the interview. Some of the advantages of conducting face-to-face interviews are to enable the interviewer to establish a better rapport with the participants and consequently, ask for further information and elicit more accurate and truthful data (Patton, 2015; Whiting, 2008). I interviewed the participants individually via Zoom and all the interviews were recorded. The data were coded,

categorized in themes, and analyzed. I kept reflective journals and took notes throughout all stages of design and data collection to ensure that my biases did not affect the results.

Interview Questions

In order to gain a deeper understanding of what educators think about the usefulness of eye gaze technology on communication and language development for nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment, 23 interview questions were designed that aligned with the theoretical frameworks and the research questions of this study. The designed preliminary interview questions and their alignment with the theoretical frameworks, research questions, subquestions, and interview questions. The background and summary questions were used to introduce and conclude the interviews. There were general inquiry questions to introduce the study and to help the participant feel more comfortable.

The background and summary questions were used to introduce and conclude the interviews. The pragmatism aspect of the questions were designed from readings about the theorist, Dewey, and were derived to gain insight into the perceptions of the participants (Dewey, 1938). The UTAUT aspect of the questions were based on information on the area of technology acceptance and adaptation (Venkatesh et al., 2003). These questions were not copied from any one source but was created by the researcher from a culmination of readings and research. The interview process provided an opportunity for conversational questioning which assisted with probing more deeply into the participants' perceptions. Rubin and Rubin (2012) indicated that conducting interviews can provide a deeper understanding and shared meaning about a topic. Patton

(2015) also suggested that face-to-face interviews provide opportunities to build a better rapport with the participants. An online platform with a face-to-face video component was used to help create a more comfortable environment for participants and build opportunities for a more in-depth interview experience. The close correlation of each interview question with the conceptual framework and wording of the corresponding research question confirmed adequacy of data collection.

The following is a summary of the interview questions and the connection to each research question:

- Interview questions 1-7 correlate to RQ1 (Pragmatism and UTAUT)
- Interview questions 8-10 correlate to SQ1 (Pragmatism and UTAUT)
- Interview questions 11-15 correlate to SQ2 (Pragmatism and UTAUT)
- Interview questions 16-20 correlate to SQ3 (Pragmatism and UTAUT)
- Interview questions 21-23 correlate to SQ4 (Pragmatism and UTAUT)

Table 1

Research and Interview Questions, Data Needs and Sources Alignment

Conceptual	Research Question	Interview Question	Data Sources
Framework/Theorists		(IQ)/Data Needs	
Dewey-Pragmatism	RQ1: Viewpoints of	IQ1.Examples of	Interview and Probing
UTAUT	educators, usefulness	educators' opinion	Question Responses
	of eye gaze	on the use of eye	
	technology for	gaze technology.	
	communication and		

			51
	language	IQ2. Examples of	
	development	participant	
		familiarity with all	
		aspects of eye gaze	
		technology	
		IQ3. Examples of	
		educator comparing	
		other technologies to	
		eye gaze	
		technology for	
		communication	
Dewey-Pragmatism	RQ1: Viewpoints of	IQ 4. Examples of	Interview and Probing
UTAUT	educators, usefulness	educator comparing	Question Responses
	of eye gaze	other technologies to	
	technology for	eye gaze	
	communication and	technology for	
	language	language	
	development	development	
		IQ 5. Examples of	
		changes noted while	
		using eye gaze	
		technology for	
		communication in	

		teaching/providing	
		therapy to students	
		IQ 6. Examples of	
		changes noted while	
		using eye gaze	
		technology for	
		language	
		development in	
		teaching/providing	
		therapy to students	
		IQ 7. Examples of	
		changes noted since	
		education went	
		online due to	
		COVID-19.	
Dewey-Pragmatism	SQ1: Opinions of	IQ8. Examples of	Interview and Probing
UTAUT	educators about the	students able to use	Question Responses
	ease of use,	eye gaze	
	complexity related to	technology to meet	
	the use of eye gaze	their needs, express	
	technology for	their feelings,	
	communication and	interact with adults	
	language	and peers	

			53
	development of	IQ9. Examples of	
	nonverbal students	changes in	
	with CVI	instructional practice	
		as eye gaze	
		technology is	
		integrated in	
		instruction/therapy	
		session.	
		IQ10. Examples of	
		the need for	
		acquiring additional	
		knowledge and	
		skills to better	
		implement eye gaze	
		technology	
Dewey-Pragmatism	SQ2: Social, cultural	IQ11. Examples of	Interview and Probing
UTAUT	and interpersonal	student motivation	Question Responses
	factors that affect the	and engagement as	
	use of eye gaze	eye gaze	
	technology for	technology is used	
	communication and	for communication	
	language	IQ12. Examples of	
	development of	student motivation	

		54
nonverbal students	and engagement as	
with CVI	eye gaze	
	technology is used	
	for language	
	development.	
	IQ13. Examples of	
	eye gaze	
	technology opening	
	up possibilities to	
	understand more	
	deeply the student's	
	inner thoughts.	
	IQ14. Examples of	
	student using eye	
	gaze technology	
	for social	
	competence	
	IQ15. Examples of	
	student using eye	
	gaze technology	
	for sociorelational	
	skills	

Dewey-Pragmatism	SQ3: Challenges	IQ16. Examples of	Interview and Probing
UTAUT	educators face when	the effects of	Question Responses
	using eye gaze	students'	
	technology for	performance with	
	improving	language	
	communication and	development	
	language	IQ17. Examples of	
	development of	the effects of	
	students with CVI	students'	
		performance with	
		communication.	
		IQ18. Examples of	
		the influence on	
		communication	
		skills	
		IQ19. Examples of	
		problems, concerns	
		when using eye	
		gaze technology	
		with students	
		IQ20. Examples of	
		negative aspects of	

		technology.	
Dewey-Pragmatism	SQ4: Additional	IQ21. Examples of	Interview and Probing
UTAUT	supports and	more effective ways	Question Responses
	facilitations to	to implement eye	
	improve the	gaze technology	
	usefulness of eye	IQ22. Examples of	
	gaze technology for	resources that have	
	communication and	helped with the	
	language	effective use of eye	
	development of	gaze technology	
	students with CVI	IQ23. Examples of	
		the need for	
		additional	
		knowledge and	
		skills for improved	
		implementation	

using eye gaze

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

The purpose of this study was to gain a deeper understanding of what educators think about the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment. In order to fulfil that

56

purpose, I as the researcher and the person who collected the data and did the interviews, contacted participants via invitation posted on social media platforms (Facebook, QIAT Listserv, Instagram, and LinkedIn). The guidelines for each of these platforms were adhered to when posting the invitation. Once the participants responded to the invitation, the ethical procedure of verifying eligibility through asking questions related to the specific population and providing a consent form was required. The other criteria for participant selection was that the participants should be currently serving nonverbal students with CVI. I conducted interviews via Zoom due to COVID-19 and the current social distancing situation.

Each interview was recorded and transcribed by the researcher. Depending on the open-ended responses to the initial interview questions, the researcher probed for more in-depth responses and I had the option to ask for clarification from the participants. IRB approval for collecting data was obtained. Before the interview began, a hard copy of the consent form was provided to participants via email and any other possible questions were answered. The participants were assured that the interview process will be completed voluntarily, and they had the option of stopping the process at any time. After the consent form was signed, it was reviewed with participants and they informed that the interview was being recorded.

The first couple of minutes of the interview were spent building a friendly rapport with participants and after that, they were asked if they were still willing to do the rest of the interview. The full interview took up to 60 minutes. After the interview, I thanked the participants for their interviews and gave them an opportunity to withdraw their consent and the data from the study. The participants were also informed that a transcript of their interview was emailed to them within a week of the interviews and after reviewing it, they had the opportunity to ask the researcher to withdraw their provided answers and data from the study.

Even though the participants already have the contact information of the researcher, she made sure that they have all the information needed to contact the her should they have any further inquiries or follow-up questions. The participants were informed that I might contact them within a few weeks of the initial interview for some follow-up questions if required and their further cooperation will be highly appreciated. They were also informed that the findings of the study will be announced after the dissertation is defended and approved. Notes and memos were taken during the interviews and was reviewed immediately after the interviews. The interviews were transcribed within three days of each interview, and the notes and memos were used to complement the transcripts. Finally, the collected data was organized for hand-coding and analysis. Furthermore, saturation occurred after the primary interviews and there was no need to collect more data or conduct a second interview.

Data Analysis Plan

Basic qualitative inquiry is defined as a qualitative approach to help the researcher gain more in-depth understanding of the different way individuals interpret their realworld experiences focusing on forming relevant themes (Ravitech & Carl, 2016). In order to obtain a deeper understanding of what educators think about the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with CVI, I utilized thematic inductive analysis to analyze the collected data. According to Nowell, Norris, White & Moules (2017) searching through the data to find certain and repeated patterns within the data set is the process researchers need to follow in conducting thematic analysis. Categorizing the information gained from the participants into classes as well as themes and sub-themes for comparison are the most significant aspects of thematic inductive analysis (Nowell, Norris, White & Moules, 2017).

The coding method that was selected for analyzing and coding the interviews was hand coding. I transcribed the interviews within one week of the interview and kept memos before and after the interviews. Notes were taken during the interviews, and I kept a reflective journal to be able to gain a deeper understanding and meaning of the transcripts of the interviews. I coded the unit of meaning, and then organized similar codes to categories, patterns, and themes. Then reviewed and revised all themes and created a matrix that represented all the acquired code, patterns, and themes. Finally, I developed comprehensive themes that were aligned with my frameworks and research questions.
Figure 2

Data Analysis and Coding Process



The preliminary coding was determined based on hand coding of the individual interview responses. I coded across participants for each interview question and crossreferenced the data by looking at the analysis for each interview response. The responses were compared to the research question and subquestions categories for developing themes. I achieved member checking as I examined areas for personal bias and isolate. The memos contained insights and outliers as they emerged. The analysis process continued until saturation was achieved with the absence of new emerging themes or patterns.

In case of confronting a discrepant case, I went back and listened to the original interview conducted with each participant, read the transcript as well as reviewed my memos and reflective journal to learn whether any misunderstanding or miscommunication occurred in the process. If I realized that the discrepancy occurred due to lack of mutual understanding between the interviewer and the interviewee, I contacted the participant and asked for further explanation and clarification on the issue. However, if I learned that misapprehension had taken place, I will report the discrepant case truthfully and try to analyze and synthesize it in a manner aligned with the study's theoretical frameworks. There were no misapprehensions during the interview process.

Issues of Trustworthiness

In order to establish trustworthiness, four significant criteria of credibility, transferability, dependability, and conformity were addressed (Saldana, 2016). As stated by Kivunja & Kuyini (2017) credibility refers to the link that exists between the finding of the study and the world reality and how it can be demonstrated in real-world settings. In order to achieve credibility, I used multiple approaches to collect and analyze data such as conducting interviews, keeping reflective journals, taking detailed notes during the entire process of design and data collection, and receiving peer-reviewed feedback from my colleagues.

The other factor that has to be considered is transferability that refers to the extent to which the findings are properly recorded and can be used in other contexts, situations, times, and populations (Kivunja & Kuyini, 2017). Using multiple sources to gather and record data during and after the interview, such as different technological devices and recording the data in multiple locations may add to the transferability of the study.

Dependability is defined as the degree to which data can remain stable over time and conditions and whether it can be repeated in different contexts (Kivunja & Kuyini, 2017). In this study, the data was collected from educators from different disciplines. Memos, notes, and reflective journals were kept and examined by the mentor, methodologist, URR, and the IRB. This process created an external audit. Confirmability is to ensure that the narrative of participants was reported and the study was not affected by the researcher's bias. I kept a reflective journal and took precise notes before, during, and after the process of interviews, analyzing, and synthesizing data in an attempt to report the authentic results and keep it bias-free.

Ethical Procedures

The participants of this study were be six speech therapists and six special education teachers who work with nonverbal students. The first procedure was to compose an invitation and post it on social media platforms (Facebook, QIAT Listserv, Instagram, and LinkedIn). The guidelines for each of these platforms were adhered to when posting the invitation. Once the participants responded to the invitation, the ethical procedure of verifying eligibility through asking questions related to the specific population and providing a consent form was required. There was a time frame allotted from the time the participant consented to participate and the actual interview.

Once the participant was ready to be interviewed, a password protected online platform that provided a safe environment was used (Patton, 2015; Rubin & Rubin, 2012). The agreed upon format was presented and explained to the participants in detail and all questions were answered to ensure clarification (Patton, 2015). If there was a low number of participants and data saturation was not reached in the initial interviews, a second round of interviews would have been initiated focusing on what is missing after a careful analysis of the collected information. It was not necessary to do a second round of interviews. Adverse events that could have occurred like withdrawal from participants would have been addressed on a case-by-case scenario. There was no incidence of adverse events. If data saturation was obtained without the withdrawal affecting the study, the process will continue. If several participants withdrew, the interview process would have been repeated with more selected participants. There were no withdrawals from the interview process. The plan to continue the study over a maximum of 10 weeks could become a concern. The duration of the study was seven weeks. If data saturation was not reached in that period, a plan was put in place to continue the research for the future, and if necessary, recruitment of more participants could be required. However, data saturation was reached within the period.

The potential ethical issues that were considered in this study might be misusing the participants, completing consent forms by the participants, researchers' biases and confidentiality of the participants. Therefore, appropriate measures were taken to manage such possible ethical considerations. It is also worth mentioning that the nature of this study did not cause any physical or mental harm to the participants. I recruited participants with different educational backgrounds (teachers and therapists) with at least 3 years' experience of working with nonverbal students with CVI who use eye gaze technology. I confirmed that I have no prior contact and familiarity with the participants neither professionally nor personally. The participants were treated in accordance to the procedures identified by Psychological Associations' Code of Ethics (APA, 2017).

I provided the participants with the Informed Consent Form and ensured that the participants willingly sign the forms. I spent needed time to answer any possible concerns or questions that participants had. The participants were also be informed that the entire process was voluntary and they can withdraw at any time. Moreover, the participants were ensured that their names will remain confidential and that pseudonyms were used in the study through utilization of an alphanumeric system (P1, P2) of coding. The real identities of the participants is only be available to the researcher, committee, and the IRB. All forms of data that include audio-recorded interviews, notes, journals, and memos has being preserved in a secured place in the researcher's personal office and will be only available to the researcher herself. The data will be shredded and disposed of properly after 5 years.

Summary

The study aimed at exploring educators' viewpoints on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication skills and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment. In order to find appropriate answers to the research questions, a basic qualitative approach was utilized. The conceptual framework chosen for this study has its foundation in Dewey's pragmatism theory and UTAUT (Venkatesh et al., 2003). The data was collected through semi structured interviews for the researcher to find more in-depth knowledge about the experiences and perceptions of the participants. A homogeneous purposive sampling to recruit participants by composing an invitation and posting it on social media platforms (Facebook, QIAT Listserv, Instagram, LinkedIn). The acquired data was coded and analyzed in this chapter, and the results will be discussed thoroughly and synthesized in the next chapter of this study.

Chapter 4: Results

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to discover the viewpoints of educators on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with CVI. I used one primary question and four subquestions to guide this study:

The main question was "What are the viewpoints of educators about the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment?" The study also addressed four subquestions:

Subquestion 1: What are the opinions of educators about the ease of use and complexity related to the use of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment?

Subquestion 2: How do educators feel about the social, cultural and interpersonal factors that may affect their use of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment?

Subquestion 3: What challenges do educators face when using eye gaze technology for improving communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment?

Subquestion 4: What additional supports and facilitations do educators think would improve the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment? The data collected from twelve participants through semi structured interview questions, focused on the research questions of the study. The themes that emerged from the literature review facilitated the formulation of the interview protocol. The data thus collected were transcribed, coded and categorized. The themes were identified following the procedure recommended when analyzing qualitative data. In this chapter, I will discuss the research setting and demographics followed by a description of the data collection process and data analysis. Evidence of trustworthiness will be addressed in a separate section. I will also provide a report based on the analysis of the collected data and the findings that align with the research questions.

Setting

I recruited participants through posting invitations on my Twitter, Facebook, Linked In, and QIAT listserv accounts from August 1 to September 25, 2020. Fifteen candidates initially contacted me, and I selected six teachers and six speech therapists who met the criteria of this study. The candidates contacted me through the email information from the invitation post or responded via direct messages on my social media accounts. During an initial email contact, I provided more information and sent the consent form where the participant responded, "I consent" if they agreed to participate. Afterwards, I scheduled interview sessions based on the availability of the participant. I conducted 12 semi structured, interviews via Zoom in my personal office at my residence. At least three of my participants rescheduled a couple of times but all interviews went smoothly.

The average time for interviews was about 30 minutes, where the shortest was 20 minutes and the longest 55 minutes. The entire data collection process took 7 weeks. I discussed the interview process with each participant and reviewed the contents of the consent form. At the end of each interview, I thanked the participants for participating in the interview and told them that I would send them a copy of the transcript of their interviews and asked them to confirm the accuracy of the content. I also informed them that I would provide them with a copy of the study after it was approved. The participants seemed passionate about this study and were all very eager to share their knowledge, experience, and expertise.

Demographics

The 12 participants had between 10 to 40 years of experience in their field and all served nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment. The number of years participants used eye gaze technology with students ranged from 8 to 20 years. All the participants had the experience of using eye gaze technology with nonverbal students with CVI. Table 2 displays the demographic information of the participants. The two categories referred to teacher participants as P1 and the speech therapists are referred to as participant therapists by using PT 1 and so on.

Table 2

Demographics

Pseudonym	# of years'	Serving nonverbal	# of years' experience using eye
	experience	students with CVI	gaze technology with students
P1	25	Yes	10
P2	21	Yes	18
P3	20	Yes	12
P4	27	Yes	20
P5	30	Yes	18
P6	33	Yes	15
PT 1	10	Yes	10
PT 2	33	Yes	15
PT 3	35	Yes	18
PT 4	40	Yes	10
PT 5	10	Yes	8
PT 6	30	Yes	14

Participants' Profile Narratives

The participants of this study were teachers and speech therapists. The criteria for participant selection were that the participants should be currently using eye gaze

technology with nonverbal students who have CVI and should have 3 years prior experience. The participants provided information about their viewpoints on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with CVI. The following sections provide a brief description of each participant's history in using eye gaze technology and other communication devices.

P1

P1 has been teaching for 25 years and felt very positive toward using AAC devices. Some communications tools used by her students were Big Macs, Dynavox, Language Acquisition through Motor Planning (LAMP) and Eye Gaze. For the past 10 years, P1 has used eye gaze technology including low-, mid- and high-tech tools. Some of these tools included a prerecorded big Mac to a sequencer all the way up to, LAMP core vocabulary.

P2

P2 has worked with assistive technology for 21 years and spent 10 years in a classroom. She was the first teachers in her district to pilot eye gaze technology 18 years ago. Her student had Gateway to Learning from Dynavox, which was designed specifically for her student. P2 used AAC devices when it was in its early stages. She stated that her style is unlike a traditional teacher who does just the vowels and training: She specializes in implementation. Whenever a school district hires her to do assistive technology, they are hiring her to come in for a specific amount of days per week to work with their teachers regardless if they are special education or general education. Some communication tools P2 has used in the past range from low tech, mid tech to high tech

and include static boards, Go Talk, Tech Talk, PRC devices and all Dynavox devices. She has also used iPads, touch chats and been a co -writer for the individuals that do not need a symbol support.

P3

P3 has been teaching for 20 years. Some of the communication tools she has used with students in the past range anywhere from low-tech to systematic high-tech, like an eye gaze or an iPad communication device. She has used eye gaze technology with students for the past 12 years.

P4

P4 has been teaching for 12 years and was an assistive technology specialist 15 years prior. She has used low-tech to high-tech tools ranging from a language board up to auditory scanning and dynavox devices including Big Mac, step by step and iPads with various language systems applications such as LAMP. P4 has also used eye gaze device, Tobii, and Access 1400. She has used eye gaze technology with her students for the past 20 years.

P5

P5 has been teaching for the past 30 years and using eye gaze technology with students for 18 years. She uses the Toby eye gaze almost daily with her students in the classroom. The students are nonverbal and cognitively delayed, so they are not able to use switches or the computer for a communication device. P5 has used big mac switches, the iPad with various communication apps like Verbal Me and Lamp. However, her students have experienced more success with Tobii eye gaze. P6 has been teaching for 33 years and using eye gaze technology with students for the past 15 years. She has used picture exchange, switches, IPad with LAMP, and Dynavox. Over the years, any type of nonverbal communication using pictures, touch, and verbal recording on the Big Mac.

PT1

PT1 is also an assistive technology professional (ATP) certified has been a speech and language pathologist (SLP), for 10 years. She has used eye gaze technology with students for the past 10 years along with other communication tools that include different major high tech companies, PRC, Saltillo, Tobii Dynavox, and all of their different access methods had tracking eye tracking, switch scanning and direct touch joystick. In addition, low tech and no tech devices such as big macs, go talk and picture exchange system (PECS). PT 1 reported that more than 75% of her students use high tech AAC. **PT2**

PT2 has practiced in this field for 33 years and used technology in her practice even earlier in her career. Other communications tools include tape recorders, big macs, PECs, go talk, IPads with apps such as LAMP. She has been using eye gaze technology with students for the past 15 years.

PT3

PT3 has been providing therapy for the past thirty-five years. During that time, she has used low-tech and high-tech communication tools with students. Some of these tools include Low-tech visual symbols, both concrete objects, symbols, tactile symbols, high tech, abstract symbols. She has used eye gaze technology with students for the past 18 years along with lots of different high-tech devices, IPads with apps such as LAMP.

PT4

PT4 has been providing therapy for the past 40 years but has only used eye gaze technology for the past 10 years. She feels that including high tech in her therapy sessions is a fantastic breakthrough. During her early years of providing therapy, she used paper and drew pictures on picture boards. Other tech tools she used include Go Talk, PECs, and LAMP.

PT5

PT5 has been providing speech therapy for the past 10 years and using eye gaze technology with students for the past 8 years. She feels eye gaze technology is a "game changer" for many nonverbal students. PT5 has used other communication devices with students such as big mac switches, Go Talk, PECs, LAMP, eye gaze technology, and PRoloquo2Go. She feels students using devices to communicate is better than sign language because all parties are not required to understand sign language in order to communicate effectively with the student.

PT6

PT 6 had been providing speech therapy for the past 30 years and using eye gaze technology with students for 14 years. She has used the simple, very basic communication boards, very simple switches, pictures, symbols, and photographs. She also used simple eye gaze, like see-through boards that you would put pictures on or picture communication symbols. She has worked with some lever and joysticks to give kids better access, Big Macs switches, which are just big one-hit buttons that you can play recorded messages on. Twin Talks is another step up, you could put two messages on them, like a yes or no, or like, and I do not like. The sequencers are similar to the size of a big Mac, but you can record multiple messages on them. This allowed a student to hold a simple conversation, say the pledge of allegiance, or make a bunch of funny comments. She has also used cheap talks that has four to eight cells in a setting, IPads with LAMP and eye gaze technology.

Data Collection

Six speech therapists (PTs) and six teachers (Ps) who use eye gaze technology with nonverbal students with CVI were recruited for this study. The criteria for recruitment was teachers and therapists must have at least 3 years' experience and use eye gaze technology with their students. I recruited participants through posting invitations on my Twitter, Facebook LinkedIn, and QIAT Listserv accounts. As described above the interviews with selected participants were conducted within a period of 7 weeks. I discussed the interview process with each participant and reviewed the content of the consent form. I informed the participants that the interview was being recorded on Zoom and I will only save the audio recording. I asked the initial questions to create a friendly atmosphere. I conducted a semi structured interview virtually with 23 openended questions about the usefulness of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with CVI. At the end of each interview, I thanked the participants for their contribution to my study and told them that I would send them a copy of the transcript of the interview and ask them to confirm the accuracy of the content. I also informed them that I would provide a copy of the study after it was approved. The participants seemed passionate about this study and were all very eager to share their knowledge, experience and expertise. I transcribed all interviews within 2 days of the interview process. I did not need to contact any of the participants to ask any further questions. I emailed each participant the transcripts of their interviews and asked for confirmation. After receiving confirmation, I began data analysis.

To ensure confidentiality and safety of the participants' identity and the data collected from them, all participants were assigned pseudonyms as indicated above and the recordings were secured in a safe in my home. I did not encounter any unusual circumstances while conducting the interviews or processing the data. There was no significant variation in the data collection process as discussed in Chapter 3. I continued to hand code the data.

Data Analysis

This study is a basic qualitative study, so I collected the data through conducting interviews and then analyzing the gathered data. In order to obtain a deeper understanding of what educators think about the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with CVI, I utilized thematic inductive analysis to analyze the collected data. According to Nowell, Norris, White & Moules (2017) searching through the data to find certain and repeated patterns within the data set is the process researchers need to follow in conducting thematic analysis. Categorizing the information gained from the participants into classes as well as themes and sub-themes for comparison are the most significant aspects of thematic inductive analysis (Nowell, Norris, White & Moules, 2017).

After conducting the interviews and transcribing them, I used the thematic inductive analysis model introduced by Braun and Clarke (2006) to analyze the data. I coded the unit of meaning, and then organized similar codes to categories, patterns and themes. I reviewed and revised all themes and created a matrix that represents all the acquired code, patterns, and themes. Finally, I developed comprehensive themes that aligned with my frameworks and research questions. Table 3 displays initial code count from the initial coding phase.

Table 3

Initial Code Count

Phrase count		
Opinion	16	
Education	13	
Independence	5	
Communication	106	
Appropriate	20	
Nonverbal	16	
AAC devices	10.	
Low Tech	12	
High Tech	14	
Problem	11	
Troubleshoot	9	
IPad	12	
Possibilities	5	
Beneficial	10	
Motivating	9	
CVI	9	
Dynavox	14	

Technologies	94	
Literacy	13	
Language	99	
Development	66	
Equipment	6	
Change	52	
Opportunity	18	
Familiar	18	
Setting	57	
Comparing	14	
Resources	21	
COVID-19	14	
Online	13	
Calibrate	38	
Instruction	7	
Integrated	9	
Implement	11	
Disability	10	
Performance	7	
Influence	12	
Positive	15	

Patterns

After reviewing the initial codes, I combined these codes into patterns. I identified seven patterns that are in general alignment with my research questions and conceptual framework. Table 4 shows the patterns that emerged from the initial codes.

Table 4

Patterns from Initial Code Count

Patterns	Initial Codes
Educators' Opinion	Beneficial
	Education
	Literacy
	Disability
	Opportunity
Familiarity with all aspects	Equipment
	Troubleshoot
	Comparing
	Familiar
Effectiveness of eye gaze technology	Communication
and CVI	Integrated
	Instruction

	Performance
	Language
	Appropriate
Comparing other devices	IPad
	CVI
	High Tech
	Low Tech
	Change
Ease of Use	Positive
	Independent
	Possibilities
	COVID-19
Functional Benefits	Calibrate
Functional Denents	T
	Troubleshoot
	Motivate
	Development
	Problem

More ways to implement effectively Setting Resources Technology Online

The identified patterns emerged from educators' viewpoints on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with CVI.

Educators' Opinion on the Use of Eye Gaze Technology

P1, 3, 4, and 5, use eye gaze technology in their classrooms daily and said it was very beneficial to students for communication and language development. P2 and P5 agreed that nonverbal students need communication tools. However, they did not feel it had to be high tech. P2 reported that she has a student who prefer to use a static board even though he had access to any high tech device. All six therapists agreed that eye gaze technology was a *game changer* where nonverbal students have the opportunity to respond to their teachers and interact with their classmates during instructional time. This could also be beneficial in assisting teachers to evaluate their learning process. PT 4 and 5 said that eye gaze technology for students with CVI was amazing because it is an untapped commodity. The perception about student with CVI is that someone with impaired vision could not possibly use his or her eyes to communicate. PT 4 stated that many nonverbal students with CVI have good visual skills that should be explored. She said educators need to be trained and may even require several years of training. All

therapists and teachers who were interviewed agreed that eye gaze technology is an untapped commodity and we are fortunate to have access.

Familiarity with all Aspects of Eye Gaze Technology

Almost 75% of teacher participants who were interviewed felt that they were familiar with all aspects of eye gaze technology. However, continuous updates mean that they must network with other professionals who are using eye gaze technology and keep up with research and development. Trouble shooting Eye gaze calibration seem to be a challenge for all educators but like any type of technology, it has its challenges. PT1stated that she has been through several masterclasses on, adjusting tracking pointers, cursors, smoothing, jitters and doing snap versus stream. PT3 said the challenge for her was that her school district has two units. PT2 said her challenge does not involve familiarity but constantly having to figure out how to program when there is an issue with connection. In addition, trying to understand language therapy on top of this very complex communicator can be intimidating.

P1said she is familiar with all aspects related to eye gaze technology. She is familiar with accessing and setting up. She said setting up to the appropriate height and appropriate distance from the students so that they can access it, has been a bit of a challenge this year. P1 is familiar with where to find different pages, the colors, comments, the pledge of allegiance and the date. She also stated that one of the major tips is to keep the device charged always. Having the knowledge to know what to do when there is a problem and how to problem solve is also very important. She stated further that she was knowledgeable about troubleshooting and would reach out for technical support if needed.

Effectiveness of Eye Gaze Technology for Students with CVI

When responding about the effectiveness of eye gaze technology for students with CVI, P2 stated, that it depends because cortical visual impairment is not about the movement of the eyes or the ability to see. She said-

CVI is a condition where the brain does not process the information the eyes are seeing. Someone with CVI sees the picture and gets the idea of what it is supposed to be, but when it gets to the area of the brain, where you say, "oh this is what it is, but it's not what I thought it was." With cortical visual impairment on eye gaze technology, we have to be mindful of how we are presenting information. I know they are outlining the shapes, doing high contrast. Those things make a difference. The question I always have anytime I am working with someone with CVI, is making sure there is enough space between the device to give their eyes a chance to relax in between before they move onto the next one because when you get too many together, all of those colors blend and become like a blob.

PT1, 3, and 5 agreed that when you are working with someone with CVI, you must consider the distance from the device but there is no reason why eye gaze technology could not be used because of CVI. PT1 said that there is a myth that it is not effective but communication on the device is similar to chords on a keyboard. She explained that it does not matter which chord you hit, your fingers know where to go.

When a student with CVI uses eye gaze technology, as long as the device is stable, the brain will adjust.

Comparison of other Communication Devices to Eye Gaze Technology

When I presented questions related to comparing other devices to eye gaze technology, the six teacher participants (Ps) were unanimous about compatibility based on the needs and abilities of the students. Since teachers spend most of the school day with the student, they reported that they observed students as they attended to tasks. Eye gaze technology worked very well for some students but Big Mac switches, PECs or LAMP may work best for others. PT 1, 4 and 5 stated that the type of device a student uses depends on the cognitive level before any AAC device is used. PT1 stated that for someone who had the capacity to work on language, using eye gaze technology would be easier than trying to fight his or her motor system to do something like a picture card or a touch system. PT3 felt that it is obvious that we have many students with *dysarthria* whose attempts to communicate verbally are not successful. She went on to say that, there are some instances, where the student understand the cause and effect of playing a game on an eye tracking device, but the language development aspect is much more difficult. As a result, most therapists used a device that is suitable for the student based on ability and it may not always be eye gaze technology.

Eye Gaze Technology Ease of Use

PT6 stated that there were difficulties when education and therapies went remote during COVID-19. She said it became difficult because these are expensive high tech systems and the students themselves, a lot of them were not proficient. In addition, parents at home working with their child did not have the skills to provide proper support. The most important thing when using eye gaze technology is being knowledgeable about operating the systems and positioning the student appropriately for the eye gaze access. PT 6 went on to say COVID-19 hindered a lot of the progress during remote learning.

P3 and P4 were the only participants whose students did not use eye gaze technology remotely because their students did not have access to the device at home. P3 said she got creative with a speech therapist and sent home duplicates of the pages the students used with the device. They were core vocabulary pictures that were extra-large. P3 directed the parents to position the pages accordingly so that the student was able to mimic using eye gaze technology. She said it was not a perfect substitution but somewhat effective.

P1 commented about ease of use in relation to calibration. She stated that she does not think eye gaze technology is easier or difficult but there are technology related issues that can present challenges. P1commented:

For example, the calibration piece of it can be problematic. If you have a child that who depends on eye gaze technology as their main form of communication and calibration is off, it can be frustrating to the student and the teacher. I have worked with two students who experienced calibration issues. As far as ease of use, my answer is always going to be when it is appropriate and when it is successful. However, I do think there are technology pieces related to eye gaze that do make it slightly more difficult.

Functional Benefits of Eye Gaze Technology

Participants discussed the functional benefits of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with CVI. P1stated:

One of the main functional benefits of eye gaze technology is language development because; you can use it in such a way where you can start small and still grow the language and vocabulary you use. As the teacher, you present simple words such a "go", "stop" or "yes", "no" or go as far as controlling the entire device by having a keyboard on the screen and using a space bar and spell check. It can range from the smallest bit of language to higher-level communication.

PT6 said students were motivated when they started developing different relationships. People were responding to them appropriately, they had the ability to express an opinion, and people were respecting it and responding. PT2 stated eye gaze technology has just given individuals a lot more, possibilities so they can show us all that potential. Eye gaze technology is a total *game changer* for so many students that do not have access any other way.

Effective Implementation of Eye Gaze Technology

All teachers and therapists agreed that they would benefit from more training to implement eye gaze technology effectively. PT3 stated she is familiar with a vast amount of knowledge. However, she would like to get a bit deeper into learning how to expand her knowledge to use it more effectively. P1said there are ways to use eye gaze technology more effectively in lessons rather than just setting up the boards. She is interested in becoming more advanced because she could help the student during instruction instead of waiting on the AAC specialist to provide support.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

Credibility

After the interview process, I achieved triangulation by interviewing 12 participants, saving the audio recording of the interviews on two different media, journaling and taking notes while collecting and analyzing the data. Patton (2015) stated that triangulation is the most effective approach to achieve credibility that occurs when multiple ways are used to collect data. In order to gain a deeper understanding of what educators think about the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with CVI, I posted the invitation on social media platforms Facebook, QIAt Listserv, Instagram, and LinkedIn. The guidelines for each of these platforms were adhered to when posting the invitation. Once the participants respond to the invitation, the ethical procedure of verifying eligibility through asking questions related to the specific population and providing a consent form was required. The other criteria for participant selection are that the participants should be currently serving nonverbal students with CVI.

After IRB approval, I conducted interviews via Zoom due to COVID-19 and the current social distancing situation. Each interviewee's response was recorded, saved on two different media then transcribed. Depending on the open-ended responses to the initial interview questions, I probed for a more in-depth response and asked for clarification from the participants. Asking 23 questions relevant to my study assisted me

with gaining a deeper understanding of educators' viewpoints on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with CVI.

Transferability

I saved the audio recording on two different media to ensure safe storage of the data. After transcribing the interviews, I double-checked them for accuracy against the recordings before sending them to the participants for confirmation. This process increased the accuracy of by data collection and contributed to my research study's transferability.

Dependability

I kept reflective journals and notes throughout the data collection and data analysis process in order to record every stage of this research accurately, so that the study could be replicated in the future. Walden University IRB along with my committee provided valuable feedback during all stages of this process. Dependability of this research was supported by the internal audit of my committee and the IRB.

Confirmability

In order to achieve confirmability and prevent personal biases, I used open-ended questions during the interview process, where participants could easily express their opinions and feelings without influence from my feelings or potential bias. I also kept a reflective journal and took accurate notes before, during, and after the interview process, during analysis and synthesizing the data in an effort to report the accurate results and obtaining confirmability.

Results

In this study, I designed one research question followed by four sub questions exploring educators' viewpoints on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication skills and language development for nonverbal nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment. I identified opinions of educators about the ease of use, social, cultural and interpersonal factors that affect the use of eye gaze technology, challenges educators face when using eye gaze technology and additional supports and facilitations to improve the usefulness of eye gaze technology. These four major themes provided deeper insight in supporting the main research question and related subquestions.

Main Research Question

What are the viewpoints of educators about the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment?

The three main identified themes in this study provided valuable information about the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment. The effectiveness of eye gaze technology, ease of use and functional benefits were identified as main factors influencing educators' viewpoints on the usefulness of eye gaze technology. Below, I will discuss the alignment of each theme to educators' perception on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for students with CVI.

The Effectiveness of Eye Gaze Technology

A user operates the eye gaze system by looking at *keys* that are displayed on the control screen. To *press* a key, the user looks at the key for a specified period. The gaze duration required to activate a key, can be adjusted. An array of menu keys and exit keys allow the user to navigate the eye gaze programs independently. Communication, integrated, instruction, performance, language and appropriate, were the main descriptors used to discuss the effectiveness of eye gaze technology for students with CVI. PT1 said, "CVI gets tossed out there as a diagnosis for some of the kids, and someone says, "Oh, they have CVI, they're blind". They cannot do eye gaze and you put them in front of a system and you would never know if they had any kind of visual diagnosis." She went on to say some students may not have a diagnosis of CVI but are unable to attend visually. Eight out of the twelve educators mentioned the benefits of getting a black frame instead of a colored frame in order to avoid the student being distracted. They recommend using something that is going to draw the student's eyes to the center of the screen. PRC (a leading manufacturer of speech generating devices) created high contrast icons that have no research behind them but seem to work.

PT3 talked about teachers from the commission of the blind attending sessions with her students and being amazed at the performance. She said that we have to be openminded because people think students with CVI are unable to access eye gaze technology. PT3 said, "I have observed the staff from the commission standing there watching the child's eyes and looking at what they activate on the screen." She stated that they were shocked the first time they visited. They stared in amazement at the systems with dark backgrounds. Many of the pages are dark with bright colors to attract the student's gaze. PT 3said further that many of the earlier games were not communication based, but just early games meant for kids to have fun and get used to the system.

Ease of Use of Eye Gaze Technology

Positive, independence and possibilities were used in response to the opinion of ease of use from all 12 participants. Of course, they observed that it was on a case-by-case basis. PT2said that in her opinion there are all kinds of factors to consider with ease of use. She said if a student had the option to use touch on a device it would probably be better than using the eyes. PT6 said, "I would say eye gaze would certainly be the way to go versus another body part. Because instead of talking, you would take away the whole scanning and waiting piece and you can just look and control it yourself with your own eyes." The six teachers (Ps) were unanimous in their opinion about ease of use depending on the level of cognition of the students.

PT6 indicated "that it is easier for someone who has the capacity to work on language, that it is certainly easier than trying to fight their motor system to do something like a picture card or, a touch system". She said that it was obvious that there are many students with dysarthria whose attempts to communicate verbally was unsuccessful. Two of the teachers and PT6 felt that most people can learn language developmentally but they have the cognitive capacity to be able to learn language, it may not matter which access method is used.

Using eye gaze technology for communication is easier for nonverbal students with CVI, than other technologies according to 85% of the participants. Even though it is very individualized, the therapists find that programing eye gaze technology for communication is easier than language development. PT 3 stated, "The technology changes so fast, and it can be difficult to stay on top of that." All participants agreed that being able to individualize is what allows you to see the student's potential and maximize it with them.

Functional Benefits of Eye Gaze Technology

Calibrate, troubleshoot and motivation were used to discuss functional benefits. During the interview process, I learned that all participants believe using eye gaze technology enabled them to unlock students' potential. P4 stated that she realized a long time ago that we should not set limits on our students. She has worked with many students who did not have great motor capabilities or ability to access technology. Eventually, they learned how to become somewhat passive and pretend to be asleep or sick. However, once they saw the eye gaze technology, they were motivated to see that they could have an effect by looking at the screen. They understood that their eyes just by looking had some sort of effect on the screen that was in front of them. Then, they started to develop the cause and effect and being able to see things that they enjoyed. This was a way to use eye gaze technology to build that cause and effect, in them and motivate them then to see *what else I can do*?

Sub Question 1

What are the opinions of educators about the ease of use and complexity related to the use of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment? The effectiveness of eye gaze technology, ease of use and functional benefits are relevant themes that align to educators' opinion on the use of eye gaze technology for communication and language development. Although eye gaze technology as an alternative access method for AAC is promising for many students with both complex communication disabilities, knowledge and skills of the educator in gathering evidence to decide an eye gaze access is critical to achieve the desired outcome of effective communication and language development.

Ease of Use of Eye Gaze Technology. The teachers agreed that integrating eye gaze technology in the classroom was not difficult and they made functional adjustments as needed. P3 said that it was more than getting the number page out. They did not get only the number page out when they were doing math or the pledge of allegiance page out when we were doing the pledge. The teacher participants were unanimous about the key to ease of use was having the device accessible to students at all times and planning for the students. This was the students' voice throughout the day and that they interact with the other students during group projects, making choices, giving an opinion and participating. Techers usually reach out to the therapist to load additional boards on the device that is relevant to instruction such as art projects with Popsicle sticks, a textured paper or sandpaper. Planning increases the usability of eye gaze technology.

Functional Benefits of Eye Gaze Technology. Two of the teacher educators shared that using eye gaze technology in the classroom has made their classroom more inclusive. They tailor the environment and instruction so the student can participate, using eye gaze technology throughout the curriculum and socially on a daily basis. Some

of the things students are able to do in a classroom setting are the date, the pledge of allegiance, choosing art materials, making comments, to friends and asking questions. PT 1 said, "During remote learning, I was able to connect with speech therapists so that I could learn how to use eye gaze online with my students. I was successful and the relationship with the students and parents was great. The mother was able to assist the student and she was engaged also." The mom said, "This really works and it gives her a voice to participate in the class the online class as well."

Sub Question 2

How do educators feel about the social, cultural and interpersonal factors that may affect their use of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment?

The Effectiveness of Eye Gaze Technology. All participants agreed that students' motivation and engagement increased with the use of eye gaze technology. It seemed as though other students in the classroom began to pay attention and listen as their classmate responded using eye gaze technology. Then the students would respond and become reciprocal. The student using eye gaze technology became focused on the lesson activities. Speech therapists always encourage teachers to integrate eye gaze technology into all classroom activities throughout the day. Their recommendations have always been "the more they use it, the more they will become motivated and engaged". As far as opening up possibilities for student, both groups of participants agree that it is phenomenal. One of our basic human needs is the need to communicate and to express who we are as people. Teacher participants stated the integration of social competence and pragmatics are weaved into health or social studies where games are played and the students can direct the play. The students can also answer relevant questions initiate an activity and make choices. These activities promotes independence and a positive selfimage for students.

Ease of Use of Eye Gaze Technology. A special eye-tracking camera mounted below the screen observes one of the user's eyes. Sophisticated image processing software analyzes the camera's images 60 times each second and determines where the user is looking on the screen. The device is not attached to the user's head or body. A less than 15 second calibration procedure is required to set up the system for the individual user. The user looks at a small calibration point as it moves around the screen. . Six teacher participants stated that it is beneficial to choose highly motivating targets for calibration with younger students or those with cognitive delays. There is no need to recalibrate if the user moves away from the screen and returns later.

For students with CVI, it is beneficial to use their personal visual strategies to make the calibration screen and target most visually accessible. P3 said, "For example, many of our students with CVI achieve visual attention best with a black screen and high contrast image or familiar video." An increased motivation to communicate aligns with additional vocabulary, faster skills and a willingness to participate. Teacher educators agreed that the positive influence with language development affects their performance. Increased social and emotional activities have a positive impact on a student who knows that she is being heard and valued as a communicator. The eye gaze device can be linked
to a cellular device where speech is generated by typing a message or selecting preprogrammed phrases.

Functional Benefits of Eye Gaze Technology. All participants agreed that eye gaze technology could be the most direct form of access and communication. Eye gaze technology opened up a world of possibilities for students with complex instructional needs due to communication, sensory, cognitive and visual impairments such as CVI. Teacher participants shared that in a classroom, eye gaze technology can offer new opportunities for communication and language development. Eye gaze is a great benefit to students who are *trapped in their own bodies* and have physical limitations where they cannot use a touch system to communicate. Both groups of participants stated that they continue to be amazed as to what is possible and how quickly their students could progress. They also suggested that eye gaze technology might not be beneficial to all nonverbal students with CVI and students who can use eye gaze for an early learning activity may not go on to use eye gaze technology all the time to communicate and learn.

Sub Question 3

What challenges do educators face when using eye gaze technology for improving communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment?

PT 1and 3 revealed that although eye gaze technology access to SGD is exciting, there are some situations when it is simply not the best choice. There are some challenges with using eye gaze on a high tech device that educators need to consider during the evaluative process. There are issues that may negatively affect the ability to use eye gaze access such as movement disorders, certain medications including antidepressants and Baclofen. Students with CVI may have difficulty with visual recognition of symbols and may need highly individualized modifications of the appearance of boards/symbols.

The Effectiveness of Eye Gaze Technology. All participants agreed that it is important to bear in mind that the social functions of eye gaze technology are only meaningful during face-to-face interactions, where both communicators can see each other. It is only in this context that eye gaze has a dual function and both agents can perceive and signal information. Furthermore, eye gaze technology signals are not isolated. This means the speakers need to shift their gaze toward or away from the listener at specific intervals during speech. Listeners need to coordinate gaze direction with facial expressions to indicate preference or reduce arousal, and speakers and listeners need to engage in brief mutual eye gaze periods to exchange turns. This means that communicative encounters with social signals need to be coordinated within and across conversation partners over time.

Ease of Use of Eye Gaze Technology. All therapists stressed on the importance of the environment. The effect of lights both natural and artificial, reflecting on the eyes and potentially interfering with the cameras reading ability could be an issue. Also, consider visual distraction for students with CVI. PT 5 said, she has had the most success using lamp lighting behind the student with curtains blocking windows for initial evaluation. For students with CVI, she has taken darkening the room to a science with

very limited lighting except the device. She further stated that she only has evidence from her own experience to support this, but has had excellent success with this technique.

Functional Benefits of Eye Gaze Technology. PT 6 stated that there could be issues that affect functionality. It could range from the lighting to the calibration. There could be all kinds of lighting issues because the lighting can affect the calibration. In most school buildings, the light can vary from one room to another. Then there are issues staff might face with a fear of breaking the expensive equipment. Sometimes it can be difficult to convince paraprofessionals to use eye gaze technology with students. Teacher participants also feel that having technical support on site to troubleshoot the equipment can be a challenge. P3 reported the frustration of the student when the internet freezes or the calibration is off. Therapists complained of either parents of teachers forgetting to charge the device and then it is not ready for use. Another functional issue is the mount. Either the mount was at school or the student has a new wheelchair that does not accommodate the mount. These are the challenges but it relates to the equipment rather than the usage.

Sub Question 4

What additional supports and facilitations do educators think would improve the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment?

Eye gaze technology is a hallmark technological achievement in the world of speech generating devices (SGDs).

The Effectiveness of Eye Gaze Technology. Participants agreed that additional training is always helpful because of the technological improvements over time. Speech therapists and webinars with demonstration modeling have been helpful. PT2 stated, "Because the technology is limitless. Is it different for students with CVI? Yeah. I mean, because there are more settings and available changes." She went on to say that, a lot could be done with proper and continuous training.

Ease of Use of Eye Gaze Technology. PT1 stated that it would be great to have one universal platform for calibration. Presently, everyone has his or her own patent, specialty and that makes it difficult. Financial support could make it possible for a standardized calibration system. Teacher participants felt it would be easier if students had access to eye gaze technology at home and school without transporting back and forth. It seems as a bit of a barrier if it is not accessible and families are not using it at home. This means that a piece of the puzzle is lost with a lack of continued usage. Teacher participants also stated it was necessary to have access to the speech therapists when additional words need to be included on the device. All participants agreed that continuous training and additional technical support would enhance the services provided to students.

Functional Benefits of Eye Gaze Technology. All participants stated that additional research on how to best teach and implement eye gaze technology would enhance the services they provide. Technology is ever-changing and further research and access to this technology could have far-reaching implications for students with CVI. P3 said she struggled with figuring out individual plans where she could address everyone at a different level. She said there are many different programs you can use and so many different symbols that can be used in so many different ways. Networking and learning from other educators who use eye gaze technology with nonverbal students who have CVI, would be valuable.

Summary

The findings of this study revealed that all of the twelve participants agreed that eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment is useful. Educators' overall belief on the usefulness of eye gaze technology was viewed as a positive approach to supporting students with CVI for communication and language development. There were no limitations with students who had CVI or delayed cognitive abilities. Participants stated they believed that the utilization of eye gaze technology as a teaching and learning tool was beneficial and contributed to their learning process. Most of the participants stated the ultimate goal of teachers and therapists is for students to focus their attention on learning the content of activities or be able to communicate and participate. Usually, the focus is not on the physical access of the device. Practice so far has demonstrated a short learning curve for many students who use eye gaze technology, particularly when compared to students mastering good switch access skills.

In the next chapter, I will compare the significance of the findings of this study to the peer-reviewed studies discussed in chapter 2 and explain how the findings of this study are aligned with the conceptual frameworks. I will also discuss the limitations of this study and state recommendations for further research within the scope of this study. Finally, I will explore the social change aspect of my research and state how the findings could contribute to positive social change.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Introduction

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore the viewpoints of educators about the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment (CVI). I recruited participants through Twitter, LinkedIn, QIAT listserv, and Instagram. The participants of this study were six speech therapists and six teachers who use eye gaze technology with nonverbal students who have CVI. I conducted semi structured, interviews via Zoom. Afterwards, I transcribed and hand-coded the gathered data. Then, I translated the identified codes, patterns, themes, and selected quotes from the participants to report and discuss the findings of the study.

The findings of this study suggested that all participants agreed on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with CVI. Most of them believed that the utilization of the device had a positive influence on students' motivation, communication and language skills. The participants stated that eye gaze technology could affect students' performance with communication and language. Eye gaze technology gave voices to many students who would have a voice for the first time in their lives. Most students' nonverbal communication has always been there, but it is not always recognized. All participants believed by using eye gaze, students with CVI become empowered. Once students have that voice, they have access to words that matches whatever anyone else says. They begin to realize that there is power in communication and that is intrinsically motivating. Whenever those factors connect, it seems as though the students feel the power and start to realize that their opinions do matter and their ability to express themselves increase.

Interpretation of the Findings

Interpretation of the Findings in Relation to the Literature

The results of this study have varying alignment with the literature. For example, children with CVI and complex communication needs (CCNs), are at high risk for cognitive, sensory motor, social, language, literacy, communication, and participation deficiencies (Hadid, 2017). They need targeted interventions to develop functional vision, engage in meaningful interactions, and have consistent learning opportunities. Nonverbal children with CVI need access to a range of assisted AAC strategies, tools, and technologies in order to participate actively in family, school, and community, and communicate effectively (Hadid, 2017). The results of my research indicated eye gaze technology is useful for nonverbal students with CVI. Participants felt as though they have many available resources and are confident in using it. The most important thing is that students have a voice. Bracher and Matta (2017) recommended more research on the how CVI affects development, learning, communication, and participation across domains. The findings of my study revealed even though there are multiple aspects of the vision of individuals with CVI that would be thought to be detrimental when using the eye gaze technology, students are able to access the whole screen when it was placed just left of the midline.

The findings of my study aligned with Chazin's (2018) study about students having the ability to concurrently learn multiple communication skills. Researchers indicated that the opportunity to experience new things and discover new abilities lead to increased possibilities to learn and develop language skills (Chazin, 2018). Cudd (2017) stated that proof exists to support that eye gaze technology can provide children with language to communicate. However, the work that needs to be added in order to make eye gaze technology usable in an efficient way is perceived as difficult and timeconsuming by some parents and professionals (Cudd, 2017). The findings of my study revealed that requiring nonverbal students with CVI to communicate by struggling to activate a switch using a head movement or being unable to control a pointing device with use of their hands are in the past. Participants reported that eye gaze technology is highly successful. The manufacturers of eye gaze technology invested over 30 years in ongoing research and development to create an accurate, easy-to-use eye-operated speech-generating device that is changing the lives of nonverbal students around the world. The findings of my study uncovered the usual technical internet issues or calibration difficulties but professionals had available resources and were skilled at providing services to students with CVI.

Dindar et al. (2017) confirmed that nonverbal children with CVI are active social participants instead of passive observers. The results of my research study supported the gap of improving communication partner behaviors of nonverbal students with CVI using eye gaze technology. The participants unanimously agreed that the use of eye gaze technology enhanced students' performance with communication and language

development. Participants revealed when students with CVI understood the symbolic representation and responded to the aid and language stimulation, they thrive and do extremely well. As a result, when they are with typically-developing peers at that cognitive capacity, they are fully capable of working together.

The findings of my study also differed from other researchers on educators' feelings toward using eye gaze technology with students who have CVI. Robillard et al. (2018) believed that cognitive flexibility predicted the navigational skills of students with CVI. My findings support the need for accommodations and technical support for nonverbal students with CVI who use eye gaze technology. CVI is a prevalent cause of visual loss in children. It encompasses a wide range of visual disabilities from no light reception to normal visual acuity with cognitive visual dysfunction. The findings of my research revealed that while there are more settings, time and changes required for students with CVI, that eye gaze technology is very useful for communication and language development.

My research findings aligned to Rytterstrom, Borgestig and Hemmingsson (2016) who studied the use of eye gaze technology of nonverbal students with severe motor impairment from a teacher and parent perspective. Rytterstrom et al. (2016) explored functionality in the home setting. The findings of my study supported Rytterstrom et al.'s (2016) study on a teacher's perspective related to the use of eye gaze technology. My study proved that students with severe disabilities were able to control the computer and express themselves. The use of eye gaze technology is a benefit to students who have been trapped in their own body and have physical limitations where they cannot use a touch system to communicate. All of the participants of my study expressed the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development for nonverbal students with CVI had a positive impact. Students with motor, physical and visual impairment were able to use eye gaze technology successfully.

Interpretation of the Findings in Relation to the Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this basic qualitative study was based on the UTAUT model (Venkatesh et al., 2003), and John Dewey's (1938) pragmatism theory. I used the unique combination of these theories to provide a frame upon which the study was designed. Additionally, I used a basic qualitative design approach including recorded interviews to determine educators' viewpoints on the usefulness of eye gaze technology on language development and communication for nonverbal students with CVI.

UTAUT was a framework first introduced by Venkatesh et al. (2003) to provide researchers with more insight into the area of technology acceptance and adaptation. I used UTAUT (Venkatesh et al., 2003) to identify challenges and investigate accommodations to improve communication and language skills, together with John Dewey's (1938) pragmatism theory, which provided structure to guide the interview questions and data collection. Technology holds great promise for nonverbal students with CVI. All interviewees agreed that the appropriate integration of eye gaze technology has been a great equalizer in a special education classroom or during speech therapy sessions. These theories offered insight and guidance for my study to examine educators' perceptions of eye gaze technology on communication and language development for nonverbal students with CVI.

Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology

The UTAUT was a framework first introduced by Venkatesh et al. (2003) to provide researchers with more information on the area of technology acceptance and adaptation (Parameswarn et al., 2015). Venkatesh et al. (2003) focused on performance expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence, and facilitating conditions as the four core constructs determining behavior intention and use behavior derived from the empirical comparison of the eight prominent theories.

Performance Expectancy

In this study, *performance expectancy* is defined as the degree to which individuals assume that the utilization of technology might be productive and enhancing their daily lives (Venkatesh et al. 2003). Risko, Richardson, and Kingstone (2016) stated that eye gaze has a dual function in human social interaction. This means that we can both perceive information from others and use our gaze to signal to others. Rubo and Gamer (2018) reported that the dual function of the eyes has often been ignored in cognitive research studying social interactions. Since language and CVI are linked to cognition, this is critical with the success of eye gaze technology for students with CVI. However, recent research has implemented ecologically valid approaches that can restore the dual function of eye gaze technology. The belief that someone can see us, intrinsic to live interactions, is thought to recruit a range of social cognitive processes that are missing when participants interact with videos or pictures (Risko et al., 2016).

Subquestion one on the opinions of educators about the ease of use, complexity related to the use of eye gaze technology for communication and language development

of nonverbal students with CVI is linked to performance expectancy. Participants in my study were emotional when they expressed the ability to respond to a student who used eye gaze technology to communicate being thirsty, hungry, bathroom use, tired, or in pain. While students were trapped in their own bodies, there was no avenue to communicate vital needs. Participants talked about one of the first things students learn when using eye gaze technology is to communicate needs. Continuous research will enhance the function of eye gaze technology that will continue to serve more students with complex physical disabilities.

Effort Expectancy

In this study, based on Venkatesh et al's (2003) ideas, effort expectancy was defined as the degree to which individuals can easily use various forms of technologies. Ease of use was one of the themes within the patterns and codes relevant to participants' perceptions on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for students with CVI. All participants in this study reported that eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with CVI was useful. Eye gaze technology has a program with common phrases for the individual to communicate quickly. The device could be attached to the student's wheelchair for easier access and vocabulary increases with the addition of words over time. The absolute adaptability of the device makes it extremely beneficial to a classroom environment. It is a valuable tool used to communicate between students and teachers, take notes, and do research on the internet.

Subquestion four supported effort expectancy with additional supports and facilitations to improve the usefulness of EGT for communication and language

development of students with CVI. Research findings supported that using eye gaze in the classroom has increased inclusivity where tailoring the environment and instruction improve students' performance. Students were able to participate using eye gaze throughout the day socially and make progress with the academic and functional curriculum. The main component that promotes usefulness is increasing accessibility and acknowledging the eye gaze device is the student's voice.

Social Influence

In this study, social influence is defined as the degree to which individuals' use of technology depends on the perception of the people around them and their environment (Dwivedi et al., 2017). Subjective norms, social factors, and image are known to be the three influential factors in the development of social influence as one of the UTAUT key constructs (Venkatesh et al., 2003). During the analysis of the data it emerged that social skills could be a difficult thing to teach using eye gaze technology. It was evident in the study that students are not socializing often; it is still difficult for them because they are not socializing like their typical peers. Games are helpful where there is some social interaction.

Subquestion two addressed social influence by exploring the social, cultural and interpersonal factors that affect the use of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with CVI. All participants agreed that for many students, it is the first time they have ever had a voice after being trapped in their own bodies. Their thoughts have always been there with no outlet. The findings of my study revealed that without eye gaze, and if a student is nonverbal, communication goes

unrecognized and it seems as though the student experiences a sense of powerlessness. Once they have that voice, using eye gaze technology with words that matches whatever anyone else says, they start to realize the power in communication and that is intrinsically motivating.

Facilitating Conditions

In this study, a facilitating condition is defined as the degree to which individuals who use certain technologies believe that a reliable and well-funded support system was established to help them with the technology, Participants of this study identified some problems regarding the reliability and support systems when using eye gaze technology for language and communication. The teachers agreed that they always need a speech therapist to add boards and troubleshoot the device. Therapists reported frustration for students due to poor internet issues, calibration issues, and the frozen screens. Educators claimed that while eye gaze technology is valuable to students, having a standardized calibration system, additional training, and technical support would be beneficial. Hirai and Kanakogi (2018) stated that students with significant motor challenges were no longer limited to scanning as a single choice for AAC access. AAC specialists have been using light tech eye gaze boards and PVC pipe frames for years, but now we are able to offer voice output.

Subquestion three aligns with facilitating conditions as my study investigated challenges educators face when using eye gaze technology for improving communication and language development of students with CVI. Calibration seemed to be a common challenge amongst educators. They all agreed that the manufacturing companies of eye gaze technology should invest in refining the calibration system and assist teachers and therapists with understanding the maximum potential of the eye gaze system.

Dewey's Pragmatism Theory

Dewey (1938) believed in pragmatic philosophy where human beings adapt to their environment and their actions are a direct result of that adaptation. Therefore, the experiences of human beings within their environments are the basis of Dewey's pragmatic and constructivist theories. According to Dewey, human experiences within an environment can change the course of action and the effects of various factors within the environment, which can directly influence outcomes (Dewey, 1938). Human activities within an environment can bring about a reaction that is either favorable or unfavorable. It supports the theory that life goes on through interaction with the environment.

In Dewey's pragmatic, cognitive thought processes, he believed that environmental experiences create a basis for, and influence, learning outcomes. Using eye gaze technology for language development to meet the needs students with CVI, activities are created based on different levels of cognition. In my study participant therapists revealed that a student may have come a long way in his or her communicative development and may be able to use complex symbol combinations or words and letters. At the same time, impairments such as CVI may require a layout with large symbols and few choices on every grid. On the other hand, a student may be at an early communicative level and just using single symbols to express needs and wants.

Limitations of the Study

The participants of this study were six speech therapists and six teachers who worked with nonverbal students with CVI using eye gaze technology. The participants were selected through purposive sampling and even though they volunteered, commitment through the data collection process was hindered because of work obligations. At least two of my participants needed to reschedule the interview session several times. Participants were required to serve students remotely due to the pandemic COVID-19 and since this was a new process, a few of my participants expressed some stressful situations at work. Moreover, because the data was collected from the participants recruited from my social media platforms such as LinkedIn, QIAT Listserv, Twitter, and Instagram, the invitation may not have reached participants without access to these platforms. I increased transferability of the study through keeping reflective journals and memos as well as recording every step taken in the process of the research in order to help other researchers replicate it in different contexts.

My bias could have been another factor that affected the outcome where I attempt to guide the interviewee toward providing my desirable answer. I avoided this type of bias by designing interview questions precisely. This allowed the participants to express their opinion freely, providing responses to the interview questions. As the interviewer, I encourage the participants to answer the questions honestly and elaborate when necessary. However, I was very cautious about not allowing my personal opinions to interfere with their experiences and viewpoints.

Recommendations

The purpose of this study was to gain a deeper understanding of what educators think about the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment. In this study, I examined educators' viewpoints on the usefulness and challenges associated with implementing eye gaze technology for students with CVI. Results demonstrated an emphasis on improving conditions for teachers and speech to become more effective with the implementation of eye gaze technology. The specific conditions educators expressed were; a technical support system, a standardized calibration system, resources and additional knowledge and skills. In addition, since eye gaze technology is quite costly, investment from stakeholders would increase availability. The cost of a device was very high but over time has become a little more affordable and portable.

Based on my findings of this study, I recommend that more resources should be made available to teachers and speech therapists using eye gaze technology with students. In addition, I recommend more time should be allotted in special education teachers' schedules for preparation time, related duties, and time for professional development training related to educating nonverbal students with CVI. Teacher participants considered additional time as necessary to address the needs of students with CVI. Both participant groups desired additional training regarding eye gaze technology implementation to increase their knowledge and skills. Additionally, teacher participants emphasized the need for technological support, so they are not dependent on the speech therapist to update the device. Nonverbal students with CVI who use eye gaze technology for functional communication skills could experience more positive communication interactions and increase their social and academic opportunities. Functional communication skills contribute to forming relationships, the expression of feelings, thoughts, and needs. Therefore, nonverbal students with CVI could use eye gaze technology to become more involved with their community and increase their independence

UTAUT (Venkatesh et al., 2003), was used as one of the conceptual frameworks of this study. Venkatesh et al. (2012) identified performance expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence and facilitating conditions as the four core constructs determining behavior intention and use behavior derived from the empirical comparison of the eight prominent theories. The themes and findings of this study could address some of the core constructs of UTAUT; however, there was no information on students' and parents' viewpoints. Further studies can be conducted including student and parent perspectives as criteria for recruitment to gain a deeper understanding of the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with cortical visual impairment.

Implications

This basic qualitative study provided evidence to support the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with CVI. The findings of this study will assist speech therapists and teachers with providing a more inclusive environment for students seem to be trapped in their own bodies with physical limitations and cannot access a touch system to communicate. The discoveries of this study demonstrated the possibility for nonverbal students with CVI to communicate and develop language skills. Students with CVI gained eye gaze skills, maintained those skills between sessions, and learned to communicate.

The results of this study also confirmed that no students with CVI should be denied access to language, learning, communication, and full participation. Learning, communication, and language development are developmentally linked. As a result, improvement in functional vision and communication for nonverbal students with CVI should be expected and can result in improvement across other developmental domains. The findings of this study also revealed the need for manufacturers of the device to investigate standardized calibration. Since calibration is individualized to the user, this would decrease the need for excessive technical support. Presently, eye gaze technology is used all over the world but not affordable to everyone. Once people understand the efficacy for eye gaze technology, it could change how nonverbal students with CVI communicate and develop language skills.

Implications for Social Change

The purpose of this study was to gain a deeper understanding of what educators think about the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with CVI. Eye gaze technology was perceived as a beneficial tool for nonverbal students with CVI. Because of eye gaze technology, nonverbal students with CVI learned to participate in activities not previously possible, and the research findings indicated that the opportunity to experience new things and discover new abilities lead to increased possibilities to improve communication and develop language skills. Both participant groups in this study confirmed that eye gaze technology can improve communication and language development.

After examining the literature, there was no evidence supporting educators' viewpoints related to the usefulness of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with CVI. There were some barriers identified in the current research that affected implementation of eye gaze technology. After researching educators' viewpoints on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development for nonverbal students with CVI, the findings filled the gap in the research literature by proving usefulness. Some challenges were uncovered but it was limited to the functional issue of the device rather than the usage by students. The research findings promote positive social change as students with CVI are provided with opportunities using eye gaze technology to improve communication and language development.

Conclusion

The three main identified themes in this study, the effectiveness of eye gaze technology, ease of use and functional benefits were main factors influencing educators' viewpoints on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development. Although eye gaze technology as an alternative access method for AAC is promising for many students with complex communication disabilities, knowledge and skills of the educator in gathering evidence to choose eye gaze access is critical to achieve the desired outcome of effective communication and language development. All participants agreed that students' motivation and engagement increased with the use of eye gaze technology. Participants reported that other students in the classroom began to

pay attention and listened as their classmate responded using eye gaze technology. Then, students would respond and become reciprocal. The student using eye gaze technology focused on the lesson activities. Speech therapists encouraged teachers to integrate eye gaze technology into all classroom activities throughout the day.

There are some challenges with using eye gaze on a high tech device that educators need to consider during the evaluative process. Some issues that may affect the ability to use eye gaze include access, movement disorders, certain medications including antidepressants and Baclofen. In addition, students with CVI may have difficulty with visual recognition of symbols and may need highly individualized modifications of the appearance of boards/symbols. The overall perception of eye gaze technology is that it is a hallmark technological achievement in the world of speech generating devices.

The use of eye gaze technology for nonverbal students with CVI for communication and language development have made a significant impact on the field of special education. The findings of my study revealed that eye gaze technology has been a great benefit to students who were *trapped in their own bodies* and have physical limitations where they cannot use a touch system to communicate. Using eye gaze technology by just looking at a screen and getting a reaction has really opened up doors for students. The therapists liked the continuum and that it is not a *one size fits all* device. The device is adjusted and calibrated to function for the individual user. Participants had positive feelings about the technology and continuous advances.

This study provided evidence to support the usefulness of eye gaze technology by special education teachers and speech therapists. The methodology for this study was

discussed along with the research design, questions, ethical procedures, data collection and analysis. The findings of this study should not be generalized to educators' perception on the usefulness of eye gaze technology for communication and language development of nonverbal students with CVI. However, an exploration of the effect of selectively different experiences of eye gaze communication on early social and communicative development could be beneficial. Continuous research on reaching nonverbal students with CVI who are *trapped in their own bodies* will enhancing the functionality of eye gaze technology and will continue to serve more students with complex physical and cognitive disabilities.

References

- Allen, A.A., Scholsser, R.W., Brock, K.L., & Shane, H.C. (2017). The effectiveness of aided augmented input techniques for persons with developmental disabilities: a systematic review. Augmentative and Alternative Communication, 33(3), 149-159.
- Alzrayer, N. M., Banda, D. R., & Koul, R. (2017). Teaching children with autism spectrum disorder and other developmental disabilities to perform multistep requesting using an iPad. *Augmentative and Alternative Communication*, *33*(2), 65-76. doi:10.1080/07434618.2017.1306881
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (2018). Augmentative and Alternative Communication [Overview]. Retrieved from http://www.asha.org/PRPSpecificTopic.aspx?folderid=8589942773§ion=Ove rview.
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (2018). Augmentative and Alternative Communication [Forms Unaided or Aided]. Retrieved from http://www.asha.org/PRPSpecificTopic.aspx?folderid=8589942773§ion=Key _Issues
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (2017). Telepractice [Overview]. Retrieved from

http://www.asha.org/PRPSpecificTopic.aspx?folderid=8589934956§ion=Ove rview.

- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (2018). Guidelines for Meeting the Communication Needs of Persons with Severe Disabilities [Overview]. Retrieved from http://www.asha.org/policy/GL1992-00201/.
- American Psychological Association. (2017). Ethical principles of psychologists and code of conduct (including 2010 and 2016 Amendments).
- Anney, V. N. (2014). Ensuring the quality of the findings of qualitative research: Looking at trustworthiness criteria. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research and Policy Studies*, 5(2):272-281. Retrieved from http://jeteraps.scholarlinkresearch.com/articles/Ensuring%20The%20Quality %20Of%20The%20Findings%20new.pdf
- Bagozzi, R. P. (2007). The legacy of the technology acceptance model and a proposal for a paradigm shift. *Journal of the association for information systems*, 8(4), 244-254. Retrieved from https://eds-a-ebscohostcom.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=6&sid=487816fd-61fb-4550-972e-6cfb3ea6d7d3%40sdc-v-sessmgr03
- Biggs, E. E., Carter, E. W., & Gilson, C. B. (2018). Systematic review of interventions involving aided AAC modeling for children with complex communication needs. *American Journal on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 123(5), 443-473. doi:10.1352/1944-7558-123.5.443
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative research in psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

Chazin, K. T., Barton, E. E., Ledford, J. R., & Pokorski, E. A. (2018).

Implementation and intervention practices to facilitate communication skills for a child with complex communication needs. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 40(2), 138-157. doi:10.1177/1053815118771397

DeJonckheere M, Vaughn LM. Semi structured interviewing in primary care research: a balance of relationship and rigor. Fam Med Com Health2019;7: e000057. doi:10.1136/fmch-2018

Dindar, K., Korkiakangas, T., Laitila, A., & Kärnä, E. (2017). An interactional "live eye tracking" study in autism spectrum disorder: combining qualitative and quantitative approaches in the study of gaze. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 14(3), 239-265. doi:10.1080/14780887.2017.1290174

- Dwivedi, Y. K., Rana, N. P., Jeyaraj, A., Clement, M., & Williams, M. D. (2017).
 Re-examining the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT): Towards a revised theoretical model. *Information Systems Frontiers*, 1-16. Ed from retreivhttps://doi.org/10.1007/s10796-017-9774-y
- Elo, S., Kaariainen, M., Kanste, O., Polkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngas, H. (2014).
 January-March). Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness.
 SAGE Open, 1-10. doi: 10.1177/2158244014522633

Goldstein, H., & Olswang, L. (2017). Is there a science to facilitate implementation of evidence-based practices and programs? *Evidence-Based Communication Assessment and Intervention*, *11*(3-4), 55-60.
doi:10.1080/17489539.2017.1416768

- Guba, E. G. (1981). Criteria for assessing the trustworthiness of naturalistic inquiries. *ECTJ*, 29(2). 75-91. Doi:10.1007BF0276677
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1981). Effective evaluation: Improving the usefulness of evaluation results through responsive and naturalistic approaches. Jossey-Bass.
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field methods*, *18*(1), 59-82. doi: 10.1177/1525822X05279903
- Hagaman, A. K., & Wutich, A. (2017). How many interviews are enough to identify metatheses in multisited and cross-cultural research? Another perspective on Guest, Bunce, and Johnson's (2006) landmark study. *Field Methods*, 29(1), 23-41. doi: 10.1177/1525822X16640447
- Hallinger, P., Hosseingholizadeh, R., Hashemi, N., & Kouhsari, M. (2017). Do beliefs make a difference? Exploring how principal self-efficacy and instructional leadership impact teacher efficacy and commitment in Iran. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 46(5), 800-819.
 Retrieved from <u>https://doi-</u>

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/1741143217700283

Hammarberg, K., Kirkman, M., de Lacey, S. (2016). Qualitative research methods:
when to use them and how to judge them, *Human Reproduction*, Volume 31,
Issue 3, March 2016, Pages 498–501, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dev334</u>

- Hemmingsson, H., Ahlsten, G., Wandin, H., Rytterström, P., & Borgestig, M. (2018).
 Eye-Gaze control technology as early intervention for a nonverbal young child with high spinal cord injury: A case report. *Technologies*, 6(1), 12. doi:10.3390/technologies6010012
- Hirsch, J., Zhang, X., Noah, J. A., and Ono, Y. (2017). Frontal temporal and parietal systems synchronize within and across brains during live eye-to-eye contact. *NeuroImage* 157, 314–330. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.06.018
- Joo, Y. J., Park, S., & Lim, E. (2018). Factors Influencing Preservice Teachers' Intention to Use Technology: TPACK, Teacher Self-efficacy, and Technology Acceptance Model. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society*, 21(3), 48-59. Retrieved from https://eds-a-ebscohostcom.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=0f19e34f-
- Kaldy, Z., Giserman, I., Carter, A. S., & Blaser, E. (2016). The mechanisms underlying the ASD advantage in visual search. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 46(5), 1513-27.
- Kaminski, J. (Spring 2011). Diffusion of innovation theory. *Canadian Journal of Nursing Informatics*, 6(2). Theory in nursing informatics column. http://cjni.net/journal/?p=1444Lund, S. K., Quach, W., Weissling, K.,
- McKelvey, M., & Dietz, A. (2017). Assessment with children who need augmentative and alternative communication (AAC): Clinical decisions of AAC specialists. *Language Speech and Hearing Services in Schools*, 48(1), 56. doi:10.1044/2016_lshss-15-0086

- Lai, C. L., & Hwang, G. J. (2016). A self-regulated flipped classroom approach to improving students' learning performance in a mathematics course. *Computers & Education*, 100, 126-140. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2016.05.006
- Lai, C. (2015). Modeling teachers' influence on learners' self-directed use of technology for language learning outside the classroom. *Computers & Education*, 82, 74-83. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2014.11.005
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2015). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Maruping, L. M., Bala, H., Venkatesh, V., & Brown, S. A. (2017). Going beyond intention: Integrating behavioral expectation into the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology. *Journal of the Association for Information Science and Technology*, 68(3), 623-637. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1002/asi.23699
- Maxwell, J. A. (2013). Qualitative research design: An interactive approach (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, *30*(7), 537-542. doi: 10.1177/0267659114559116
- Merriam, S. B. (2009). Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation. Revised and expanded from qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation. Revised and expanded from qualitative research and case

study applications in education. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass, A Wiley Imprint.

- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2015). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Merriam S. B. (1998). Qualitative research and case study applications in education. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42(5), 533-544. doi: 10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Parameswaran, S., Kishore, R., & Li, P. (2015). Within-study measurement invariance of the UTAUT instrument: An assessment with user technology engagement variables. *Information & Management*, 52(3), 317-336. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2014.12.007
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Percy, W. H., Kostere, K., & Kostere, S. (2015). Generic qualitative research in psychology. *The Qualitative Report, 20*(2), 76-85. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?referer=https://scholar.google.com /scholar?hl=en&as_sdt=0%2C5&q=Percy%2C+W.+H.%2C+Kostere%2C+K.%2 C+%26+Kostere%2C+S.+%282015%29.+Generic+qualitative+research+in+psyc

hology.+The+Qualitative+Report%2C+20%282%29%2C+76-

85.&btnG=&httpsredir=1&article=2097&context=tqr/

- Pitt, K. M.., & Brumberg, J. S. 2. brumberg@ku. ed. (2018). Guidelines for Feature Matching Assessment of Brain-Computer Interfaces for Augmentative and Alternative Communication. *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 27(3), 950–964. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1044/2018_AJSLP-17-0135</u>
- Pua, E. P., Ball, G., Adamson, C., Bowden, S., & Seal, M. (2018). Quantifying individual differences in brain morphometry underlying symptom severity in autism spectrum disorders: Supplementary materials. doi:10.1101/430355
- Risko, E. F., Richardson, D. C., and Kingstone, A. (2016). Breaking the fourth wall of cognitive science: real-world social attention and the dual function of gaze. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 25, 70–74. doi: 10.1177/0963721415617806
- Robillard, M., Roy-Charland, A., & Cazabon, S. (2018). The role of cognition on navigational skills of children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Speech Language and Hearing Research*, *61*(7), 1579. doi:10.1044/2018_jslhr-s-17-0206
- Rubo, M., and Gamer, M. (2018). Social content and emotional valence modulate gaze fixations in dynamic scenes. *Sci. Rep.* 8:3804. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-22127-w
- Rytterstrom, P., Borgestig, M., & Hemmingsson, H. (2016). Teachers' experiences of using eye gaze-controlled computers for pupils with severe motor

impairments and without speech. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, *31*(4), 506-519. doi:10.1080/08856257.2016.1187878

Saldaña, J. (2016). The coding manual for qualitative researchers (3rd ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.

Severini, K. E., Ledford, J. R., Barton, E. E., & Osborne, K. C. (2019). Implementing Stay-Play-Talk with Children Who Use AAC. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 38(4), 220–233. Retrieved from https://search-ebscohostcom.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ120372 4&site=eds-live&scope=site

Sievers, S. B., Trembath, D., & Westerveld, M. (2018). A systematic review of predictors, moderators, and mediators of augmentative and alternative communication (AAC) outcomes for children with autism spectrum disorder. *Augmentative and Alternative Communication*, *34*(3), 219-229.

doi:10.1080/07434618.2018.1462849

Sikandar, A. (2015). John Dewey and his philosophy of education. *Journal of Education and Educational Development*, 2 (2), 191-201. doi: 10. 22555joeed.v2i2.446
Subrahmaniyan, N., Higginbotham, D. J., & Bisantz, A. M. (2018). Using person to support augmentative alternative communication device design: A validation and

evaluation study. International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction, 34(1),

84-97. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/10447318.2017.1330802

Swan K. (2019) Social construction of knowledge and the community of inquiry framework. Springer Briefs in Education. Springer, Singapore

- Taherdoost, H. (2018). A review of technology acceptance and adoption models and theories. *Procedia Manufacturing*, 22, 960-967. doi: 10.1016/j.promfg.2018.03.137
- Tarhini, A., Masa'deh, R., Al-Busaidi, K., Mohammed, A. and Maqableh, M. (2017),
 "Factors influencing students' adoption of e-learning: a structural equation modeling approach", *Journal of International Education in Business, Vol. 10 No. 2*, pp. 164-182. https://doi.org/10.1108/JIEB-09-2016-0032
- Thorne, S. (2016). Interpretive description: Qualitative research for applied

practice (Vol. 2). Routledge.

Townend, G. S., Marschik, P. B., Smeets, E., van de Berg, R., van den Berg, M., & Curfs, L. M. (2015). Eye gaze technology as a form of augmentative and alternative communication for individuals with rett syndrome: Experiences of Families in the Netherlands. *Journal of developmental and physical disabilities*, 28, 101-112.

- Wadge, H., Brewer, R., Bird, G., Toni, I., & Stolk, A. (2019). Communicative misalignment in Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Cortex*, 115, 15–26. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2019.01.003
- Whiting, L. S. (2008, February). Semi structured interviews: Guidance for novice researchers. *Nursing Standard*, 22(23), 35-40. doi:10.7748/ns2008.02.22.23.35.c6420
- Williams, M. D., Rana, N. P., & Dwivedi, Y. K. (2015). The unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT): a literature review. *Journal of Enterprise*

Information Management, 28(3), 443-488. Retrieved from

https://doi.org/10.1108/JEIM-09-2014-0

Wingo, N. P., Ivankova, N. V., & Moss, J. A. (2017) Faculty perceptions about teaching online: exploring the literature using the technology acceptance model as an organizing framework, Online Learning 21(1), 15-35. doi: 10.10.24059/olj. v21i1.761